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Making a

measurable

difference
The British Library is one of the greatest research libraries
in the world; in terms of the breadth and depth of collection
and the range of services we provide, it is the greatest.
As we pursue our mission to help people advance knowledge
to enrich lives, we underpin the UK’s contribution to worldclass research, scholarship and business innovation.
This report shows how our collections, our people and the
results we’re helping others to achieve add up to the
measurable difference the Library is making.
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Chairman’s statement

The British Library makes a
tremendous contribution to
the economic, cultural and
intellectual life of the nation.
I am delighted to highlight
landmark achievements in
each of these areas during
the past year.

In 2003 we commissioned a study
to measure the value the Library adds
to the UK in economic terms. Using a
methodology devised by the Nobel Prize
winning economists Solow and Arrow,
the results estimate that the British Library
generates £363 million for the UK economy
each year – equivalent to £4.40 for every
£1of public money invested.
These results are both groundbreaking
and challenging. Groundbreaking because
the Library is the first national library in the
world to have commissioned such a study.
Challenging in that the analysis confirms
the Library as an outstanding investment
for public funds and sets a standard of
excellence which, in the rapidly changing
world of information, we must continue
to exceed.
Over the past twelve months the Library
has also set landmarks in the cultural and
intellectual landscape, most notably by
securing the Legal Deposit Libraries Act
2003. This Act allows for the preservation
of, and access to, electronic publications
for future generations of researchers. It
was a visionary achievement, the result of
relentless commitment by the Library team,
working with publishers, Government and
fellow legal deposit libraries.
We are grateful to Chris Mole MP, whose
sponsorship of this Private Member’s Bill
was crucial, to Dr Clive Field, the Library’s
Director of Scholarship and Collections,
and to John Byford, Head of Legal
Deposit Strategy.
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The British Library is renowned for its preeminence in the humanities. But the Library
also provides critical support to science and
innovation in the UK. Holding the largest
scientific collection in Britain, the Library
underpins the knowledge transfer that
guarantees the vitality of scientific research.
Through its advanced catalogues and other
resource discovery services, the Library
supports scientific research from laboratory
to market-place – ensuring that the UK
continues to succeed in pure research
while equipping itself for competition
on a platform of technological and
intellectual strength.
The Library has welcomed the opportunity
to engage with Government in discussions
on how science and research can best be
supported in the future. During the House
of Commons Science and Technology
Committee Inquiry into Scientific
Publications, the Library was particularly
encouraged by the support of colleagues
in the information sector for its national
responsibility in ensuring long-term access to
the electronic scientific record. Through the
Library’s contribution to the Government’s
consultation on its ten year investment
framework for science and innovation,
we have sought to ensure that access
to scientific information remains at
the forefront of the Government’s
long-term strategy.
These landmarks have been reflected
in the case that the Library has made to
Government as part of the current spending

review. This has been a demanding and
rigorous activity, engaging expert teams
from across the Library. Fully aware of
the constraints on funding for 2006/08,
the Library adopted the most stringent
measures to define and justify its needs.
The focus has been on three critical
priorities: securing funding to meet our
long-term storage needs; developing the
infrastructure to manage the nation’s digital
archive; and sustaining our levels of
operational excellence by continuing to
invest in our staff and our collections.
On behalf of the Board of the British Library,
I thank the Executive Team for their leadership throughout the last twelve months
and for the remarkable contribution which
everyone in the British Library is making to
underpin research excellence, innovation,
education and creativity in the UK. Together,
we are committed to ensuring that the
Library continues to receive the recognition
and funding it needs to sustain the
outstanding value it delivers.

LORD EATWELL
CHAIRMAN
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Chief Executive’s
review

Open here
to reveal
the Library’s
hidden value

The achievements of 2003
highlighted by the Chairman
have provided us with a
powerful and demanding
springboard for 2004.

Throughout the last twelve months we
have continued to meet and exceed the
goals we established as part of our rigorous
strategic agenda to set a world-class
standard for modernised, entrepreneurial
public sector organisations. Our objectives
have remained focused on increasing
efficiency, improving quality, becoming more
market-facing and harnessing technology
to improve services. Throughout, we have
been determined to provide measurable
and sustainable value for our users.
The passage of the Legal Deposit Libraries
Act was a momentous achievement for the
Library and the nation, and puts the UK
in the vanguard of countries legislating
to collect and ensure permanent access to
their digital knowledge. However, despite
the international significance of this
achievement, we recognise that legislation
is just the beginning. Now, we must work
to secure funding for the infrastructure that
is needed if we are to collect, store and
preserve digital materials and make them
accessible for centuries to come. In 2003
the Library recruited an outstanding team
of professionals who have already defined
the necessary infrastructure, prototyped the
system, and built the foundations for further
development. Only if we ensure long-term
access to knowledge held electronically
can the UK sustain its global leadership
in research, science and innovation. It
is critical that we continue to invest in
this infrastructure.

As well as safeguarding the materials
in our keeping, we are constant in our
determination to widen access to the
collections so that as many people as
possible can find inspiration in the wealth
of knowledge held by the Library on their
behalf. This year we have been able to offer
an unparalleled level of access to key items
from our collections through our public
programmes and through digitisation.
The Painted Labyrinth exhibition, which
showcased the Lindisfarne Gospels,
attracted more visitors to the Library
than any other exhibition in our history.
In addition, we collaborated with regional
agencies and schools to bring magnificent
facsimiles of this national treasure into the
hands of communities involved in its 1,300
year history.
Nine other world treasures from our
collection have now been added to our
Turning the Pages website. These seminal
works are viewed across the world and
generate a constant stream of enthusiastic
feedback – ‘absolutely magnificent’ …
‘this shows what the internet should be
used for’ … ‘it is an amazing experience
to page through such famous books’,
being typical examples.
Building our collections is critical to the
British Library’s strength as a research
library, and throughout the year we
have continued to acquire material at
unprecedented levels. In particular,
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we are delighted to have strengthened our
modern literary archives with the acquisition
of Laurie Lee’s papers, unpublished
Virginia Woolf manuscripts, Ted Hughes’s
correspondence with Leonard Baskin, and
the Punch archive, which includes letters
from Dickens and Thackeray as well as
cartoons and drawings from the magazine’s
160 year history.
Collaboration continues with higher and
further education and national library
partners to make digital and printed
materials as easy to find and consult as
possible. The European Library project
concluded successfully in January 2004
with commitment of €1 million to
develop a pan-European library service
over the next three years. This initiative
will enable integrated access to resources
in European national libraries for the
first time. Collaboration is further
demonstrated by the Research Libraries
Network (RLN), which will develop and
implement a national strategy for the
provision of research information with
the goal of enhancing both the quantity
and quality of research in the UK.
The RLN Director and team will be
based at the British Library, from where
the network will operate. In no other
country are aspects of research support
combined in this way. The creation of
the Network marks yet another significant
milestone in bringing UK research support
to the fore.

Following a £2 million investment
programme, supported by the Treasury’s
Invest to Save initiative, the modernisation
of our document supply service was
completed this year. Responding to the
needs of research and business users, we
launched our Secure Electronic Delivery
system in December which enables us to
deliver any of our one hundred million
research articles direct to users’ desktops.
This project was highly commended by the
CBI as setting a benchmark for effective
management. Secure Electronic Delivery
for our remote users will be complemented
in 2004 by the launch of our Business and
Intellectual Property Centre for users
of our St Pancras reading rooms. The
introduction of innovative services like
these ensures that the Library continues
to fulfil the changing needs of users.
Every day I am reminded of all that the
Library has achieved strategically and
operationally since our full-scale review
in 2000. Our modernised services,
integrated life-cycle approach to collection
management, and audience-driven approach
to strategy development, all point to the
remarkable progress we have already made.
Now, we are moving to the next level,
focusing on an in-depth analysis of the
Library’s strategic context. We are talking
to people involved in research at all levels
and across all disciplines, broadly grouped
into three main studies covering science,
humanities and social sciences. Through

our consultation we are finding out about
the future shape of research and the types
of service users will need. The assessment
will help us determine the strategic
priorities that will guide our development
in the coming years – indeed, will help us
redefine the whole idea of a library in the
21st century.
I am confident that we will continue to
demonstrate our prominence and relevance
through the skill, commitment and
professionalism of the entire Library staff.
On behalf of the Executive Team, I thank
each and every member of staff for their
continued hard work and for the pride
they take in making their individual and
collective contributions. Their enterprise
in unlocking and delivering our great
collections, and in continuous service
improvement, demonstrates the ways
in which our value is made real.

LYNNE BRINDLEY
CHIEF EXECUTIVE
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Measuring

our

value
Assessing the British Library’s
contribution to the national
economy is a complex matter,
requiring consideration of a
number of different dimensions.
Traditionally, attempts to assess these
benefits have taken the form of qualitative
case studies – telling good stories perhaps,
but failing to provide a comprehensive
evaluation. Now a technique, supported
by the Nobel Prize winning economists
Kenneth Arrow and Robert Solow, permits
a coherent quantitative evaluation of the
total benefit to the nation of publicly-funded
institutions and programmes. Recognising
the value of this technique, the British
Library commissioned a research study
to estimate the economic impact of the
Library on the UK economy. The study
was conducted jointly by two independent
research organisations, Spectrum Strategy
Consultants and Indepen.
In commissioning the study, we set out to
discover the value enjoyed directly by users
of the Library as well as the value enjoyed
indirectly by UK citizens. In both cases the
economic welfare that the British Library
generates has been measured by the size
of the consumer surplus, i.e. by the value
gained by beneficiaries over and above
any cost to them of the Library’s services –
users of our reading rooms pay nothing,
while users of our document supply
service pay fees.

To measure the consumer surplus, the
consultants analysed the results of surveys
completed by over 2,000 beneficiaries who
were selected at random from different
groups including members of the wider
public as well as direct users of the Library’s
products and services. They were asked:


How much they would be willing to pay
for the Library’s continued existence.



The minimum payment they would be
willing to accept to forgo the Library’s
existence.



How much they invest in terms of time
and money to make use of the Library.



How much they would have to pay to
use alternatives to the Library, if such
alternatives could be found.

While the methodology used is the most
appropriate available, this work is still not
an exact science. The results reported were
conservative given that, for practical reasons,
the study didn’t capture the complete range
of products and services which the Library
offers – such as website usage. In addition,
the results excluded any value generated
for non-UK users of the British Library.
This is likely to be substantial and to generate
reciprocal value for the UK economy. Finally,
it is important to keep in mind that this
methodology only provides a snapshot
of the British Library based on 2003 and
doesn’t capture emerging services such as
digitisation and other web-based services.

Notwithstanding, the results indicate that
each year the British Library generates
value around 4.4 times the level of its
public funding, revealing that investment
in the British Library pays huge dividends
to UK plc, and that the Library represents
value for money for the British taxpayer.
It illustrates the tangible benefits to the
nation that flow from the strategy of
investment in the knowledge economy,
information technology, and research
and development.
This value benefits not only those who
access the Library’s collections and services
directly, but also benefits members of the
public throughout the UK who reap the
indirect benefits of the world-class scientific
research, creativity and innovation that
is underpinned by the British Library.
The British Library intends to commission
further studies to build on this significant
first step.
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Researchers

Businesses

General
Public

UK Library
Network

Young
Learners

Serving our users
The British Library serves five
principal user groups.
RESEARCHERS

GENERAL PUBLIC

YOUNG LEARNERS

Everyone with specialist research needs,
including post-graduate students in every
discipline, turns to the Library for current,
historical and international research material.
These users make nearly 400,000 visits a
year to our state-of-the-art reading rooms,
while our remote information supply
service is the largest and one of the fastest
available. Our customer alerting services
offer access to over 20 million articles
from academic journals and conferences.
Details of 9,000 new articles are added to
the database every day.

People from all over the world enjoy the
Library’s free exhibitions – both real and
virtual. Visitors to St Pancras can choose from
a programme of public events that ranges
from literary panel discussions to conferences
and themed talks. Library publications
which, in addition to books, include audio
CDs of wildlife recordings and international
music, and interactive CD-Rom versions
of our greatest treasures, appeal to a wide
general market as well as to specialist readers.

An increasing number of young learners visit
the Library and benefit from the e-learning
resources we make available online. 8,173
schoolchildren and their teachers took part
in our St Pancras-based workshops last year
and visits to the learning pages of the
British Library website increased fourfold.
Teachers’ notes and creative guides to our
acclaimed exhibitions help young visitors to
interpret items on display. We also provide
2,000 pages of online material to enable
learners to develop investigative and creative research skills in support of the
National Curriculum.

UK LIBRARY NETWORK
BUSINESSES

Over 80% of the highest spending UK
research and development companies use
British Library services, and more than
10,000 small and medium-sized enterprises
(SMEs) use our priced information supply
services. Users can tailor our research services to their deadlines and budgets,
and our staff offer information retrieval
expertise in the sciences, medicine, technology, intellectual property, legislation and
market research. Our services include
access to the world’s largest collection of
patents, and specialist journals and databases to which many SMEs cannot afford to
subscribe.

The British Library works with the UK
library network to promote collaboration
between institutions and networks at a
regional and local level. Our touring exhibitions and online resources help improve
access to our treasures for thousands of
regional users. We also
support digitisation projects to reunite
material of regional importance that has
been dispersed around the country. In addition we are co-operating with Newsplan
2000 to preserve and improve access to
archives of local and regional newspapers.
UK citizens use the Library’s vast collections
through their local library
via inter-library loans and document supply.
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Facts
&figures

2

10
10 magnificent treasures now
appear in vivid 3D detail on our
website in the Turning the Pages
format, including the Diamond
Sutra and Leonardo’s Notebooks.

2 hour turnaround available
on 100 million research articles
which can be delivered directly
to users’ desktops via our new
Secure Electronic Delivery service.

58 stunning illuminated manuscripts
were loaned to the Royal Academy’s
exhibition Illuminating the Renaissance:
The Triumph of Flemish Manuscript
Painting in Europe. Insured for some
£48 million, these masterpieces
comprised the largest loan ever
made by the Library.

19 users search our online
catalogue every minute.

75% of new registrations for our
commercial services are SMEs.

25% of our
users are from the
creative industries.

8 European national libraries, including the
British Library, collaborated on a technical
blueprint to allow seamless access to their
collections. The blueprint is now being
developed into a service that will provide
web access to 43 European national libraries
using a single search interface.
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28 million pages – and every
word searchable. Our partnership
with Thomson Gale on Eighteenth
Century Collections Online
gives subscribers access to
120,000 digitised volumes from
our collections, covering every
subject published during the
Enlightenment.

3,204, 977
3,204,977 searches of our
web catalogue were made
in the UK and a further
6,516,597 originated in
184 overseas domains.

£10

million

£10 million is spent annually on
acquiring new science, technology,
medical and business material.

2,481,967
2,481,967 individual users
visited our website – a 36%
increase over 2002/03.

41,761,397 catalogue
records for books, maps,
manuscripts, journal
articles, conference papers,
music scores, audio CDs
and newspapers are online.
884,249 individual items
were catalogued – 30%
more than the previous
year, and 15% above
our target.

53,483,537 international patents
are held in our collection, which is
the world’s largest. Every day, over
5,000 scientific, business and patent
items are consulted in the reading
rooms by business people, inventors,
entrepreneurs and other researchers.

30 million catalogue entries from 16
separate legacy systems were transferred
onto the Integrated Library System in one
of the largest data migrations ever. The
new system will streamline processes and
make newly-acquired items available
more quickly to users.

9,019

9,019 new entries for international research
articles and conference papers are added
to our electronic table of contents website
every working day. The majority of these
cover science, technology and medicine.

,

,

2,477,535 printed books, newspapers,
journals and patents entered the collection.
571,901 were sent by publishers under
UK Legal Deposit legislation.

2,246 people based in London
and Yorkshire sustain the Library’s
extraordinary level of activity – the
widest range of services maintained
by any library in the world.

149,285 people have passes
for the Library’s reading
rooms at St Pancras. There
are 1,266 places for readers.
397,940 visits were made to
the reading rooms last year.

149,285

8,804 customised searches
are run automatically every
working day across new
research material. The results
go straight to individual UK
researchers to keep them
up-to-date with the latest
international developments
in their field.

,

10,026 SMEs are customers of the
Library’s priced services.

110,859 young learners participated
in our workshops and visited our
online learning pages. One teacher
told us, ‘The visit of our senior
students to the British Library stands
out as the best trip of this academic
year and one of the most successful
we have ever done. The students
still display with pride and pleasure
the work they produced that
morning. We feel privileged to have
the Library only an hour away.’

100% of the 208 public
library services in the UK
use our services to borrow
specialist books and journals
for their readers.

606 kilometres of
shelving are currently
filled and users have
access to 44 metres of
new material every day.

131 northern dialect soundbites were added to our
Collect Britain website. 50% were recorded in the
1950s, the other half in the same locations 40 years
later – so listeners can hear changes in speech patterns
and word use. A further 400 dialect speakers will
have been added by autumn 2004.

100% of the 148 UK
universities use our
document supply service
to access research
material not held in
their own libraries.

400 years ago the first edition of Shakespeare’s
Hamlet was printed. We marked the anniversary by
publishing a limited edition facsimile and mounting
a popular exhibition that included unique material
from the Olivier, Gielgud and Richardson archives and
a century of recordings of ‘To be or not to be’, from
Sir Herbert Beerbohm Tree to Mel Gibson.

1,000 Years of English
Literature featured our
great manuscripts and
was one of our most
prominent publications
this year, with excellent
sales in North America.

,
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Our People
The expertise of our people is recognised throughout
the world. We set a standard for scholarship and for
our ability to interpret and make accessible the Library’s collections. Dedicated and creative, we work together
to shape and deliver our services and ensure that we all
have the skills and infrastructure we need to support everyone who can benefit from the British Library.
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SHABANA MAHMUD
BUSINESS MARKETING
‘ I created the Asian Business web

portal last year to promote links
between Asian media, business
networks, entrepreneurs and
companies targeting the UK
Asian markets. This 1867 sample
book of Indian textiles goes
back to earlier traditions of Asian
enterprise. Opening it, I marvel
at its freshness. It’s an inspiration
for today’s designers.’
ALISTAIR McINTOSH
LEARNING AND DEVELOPMENT
‘ Shackleton’s South is an

inspirational example of leadership and setting stretching goals –
both elements of the Library’s new
performance management system.
HR developed and ran skills and
competencies workshops in which
2,000 colleagues have already
participated.’

PETER GIBBS
BUSINESS RESEARCH
‘ Inventors and entrepreneurs

need support to develop and
commercialise their ideas.
We have the largest patent
collection in the world and I’m
part of the team that helps
people get the most from the
collections – like Stephen
Matthews, inventor of the
Cheekey, a device to help
people open awkward containers.
We have been running patent
clinics since 2002. In 2004 we
will amalgamate initiatives such
as these into the Library’s new
Business and Intellectual
Property Centre.’
LESLEY HANSON AND
ROSANNA SARACENO
COLLECTION CARE
‘ We help keep the collection

in the very best condition for
future generations. We mounted
stunning images for Chinese
Printmaking Today, an exhibition
sponsored by the Muban
Foundation. It brought together
the largest collection of postMao woodblock prints ever
shown in Europe.’

VIC VERRALL
DOCUMENT SUPPLY
‘ 2003 saw the culmination of the

first phase of document supply
modernisation. We negotiated
partnership agreements with
publishers and software suppliers,
built the technical infrastructure
and replaced banks of photocopiers with high speed scanners.
In December 2003 we scanned
and sent our first document
using the new Secure Electronic
Delivery system. No earlier
versions of our electronic
delivery services could be scaled
up to the industrial capacity of
this one. Customers can now
retrieve any item from our
vast collection in less than
two hours.’

SANDRA BRADBURY
FINANCE
‘ I’m part of the team that imple-

mented the Library’s new payroll
and human resources system – a
project for which we won second
place in the Chartered Institute
of Management Accountants
Awards. This 1971 issue of the
Financial Times reports on the
introduction of decimalisation to
the UK – modernisation on a
different scale!’
DAVID BEECH
PHILATELIC COLLECTIONS

2003 was an impressive year for
David. He was elected President
of the The Royal Philatelic
Society London and presided
over the centenary celebrations
of the Tapling Collection. ‘This is
the greatest permanent exhibition
of rare stamps in the world and
the highlight of the Library’s
eight million strong philatelic
collection.’
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LIZ McARDLE
READER SERVICES

CAROLINE PUNG
STRATEGY AND PLANNING

Liz’s team retrieves books from
the basement stores at St
Pancras where we have some
250 km of shelving. This year
they set a personal best record
with 164,170 items delivered –
95% of which reached readers
within 70 minutes. ‘2003’s highpoint for all 158 of us in Reader
Services was the delivery of the
five millionth item since St Pancras
opened. It was a copy of Wits
Interpreter, a seventeenth century
manual about how to create a
good impression! Enough said.’

Caroline joined the Library
in 2003 from McKinsey &
Company. ‘My team coordinated the valuation study
which brought a rigorous,
innovative methodology to
establishing the value the Library
adds. As a former research
scientist I was aware of most of
the Library’s services, but not that
the Library is also a publisher of
science books such as this new
one about scientific research and
the public interest.’

ANTHONY BRICKELL,
ABDUL OYEDE AND KEN TSANG
SPECIAL AND SMALL SYSTEMS

The close co-operation between
Web Services and the Special and
Small Systems teams is key to the
great progress being made to
simplify access to popular
resources. ‘This year Web Services
mounted ten masterpieces on
the website in the awardwinning Turning the Pages
format. In addition, we added
the Library’s copies of the
Gutenberg Bible, Caxton’s
Chaucer and the first illustrated
catalogue of illuminated
manuscripts to the website.
We also upgraded the Reader’s
Pass application process so that
readers can save time by
applying online.’
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KATHRYN JOHNSON
MANUSCRIPTS

Kathryn’s performance as a
member of the Library’s team
on University Challenge – The
Professionals led the Guardian
to comment that she ‘appears
to have read, absorbed and
memorised every book in the
British Library’. She’s also an expert
on the Library’s spectacular 20th
century theatrical collections and
is studying part-time for a PhD.

NIGEL BEWLEY
SOUND ARCHIVE
‘ Only 30 copies of this recording

of James Joyce reading from
Ulysses were ever pressed. In
contrast, the Library’s 2003 CDs
of writers and poets were best
sellers, running to a second
pressing within ten days. The
technical services team digitally
remastered the recordings, some
over a century old. A wider
audience than ever before can
now experience these.’

GABOR BENCSICS
NEWSPAPERS

Gabor works on the Newsplan
2000 Prep Team as part of a
programme that preserves local
newspapers of past centuries.
‘Local news is a primary source
for historians and family
researchers and during 2003 the
project made nearly five million
pages available to regional
libraries and archives.’

ROVIANNE MATOVU
VISITOR SERVICES
‘ David Kindersley’s Alphabet is so

precise and elegant. He designed
the lettering on the portico and
bronze gates of the Library at
St Pancras which is often the
first experience visitors have of
the Library. However, the most
important impression they take
away is the advice and assistance
they receive from my colleagues
on the information desk or in
the reading rooms. The Library’s
mission statement begins,
“helping people advance
knowledge.” Front line staff like
me make those words personal.’

Our users showcase the direct and
indirect contributions the British
Library makes to world-class
research, creativity and innovation.
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THE DIFFERENCE WE MAKE
TO BUSINESSES

Unilever is one of the world’s
leading suppliers of consumer goods
in the food, home and personal care
markets. Its portfolio includes some
of the world’s best known brands,
twelve of which each have annual
sales of over €1 billion. A programme
of continuous innovation sustains
this success. Last year Unilever spent
€1,065 million on research and
development (R&D), and registered
397 new patents.
In common with 80 per cent of the UK’s
highest spenders on R&D, Unilever has a
long-standing relationship with the British
Library. Over 50 per cent of the Library’s
acquisitions budget is devoted to material
to support the range of research needed
by multinationals for their R&D. With an
annual intake of 30,000 research journal
titles as well as 70,000 reports, theses and
otherwise unpublished scientific material,
our document supply services provide
direct value to research laboratories.
‘Information drives the innovation
that makes our brands successful,’ says
Dr Alan McKinnon, Unilever’s Director of
Laboratory at Port Sunlight, headquarters
of Home and Personal Care R&D.
‘Now, digital information is an absolutely
basic resource that scientists expect to
access directly from their desktops.’

Angela Donnelly’s team in the Scientific
Support Group, based at Port Sunlight,
has contributed to the development of
a Personal News Service for Unilever’s
scientists that provides them with up-tothe-minute resources in e-journals,
abstracting services and patent databases.
This is complemented by an information
literacy programme that Angela runs to
help researchers identify the right material.
‘If scientists can’t find the relevant
information, they could initiate projects
focused on the wrong questions, or
generate results that are already known.
That would be a huge cost to the
company,’ Angela says.

psychology, lifestyle and demographic
changes, and the standards and legislation
that control product ingredients.’

The importance of the integrity of
information in the insecure web
environment prompted Angela’s colleague
Jill Sawdon to strengthen Unilever’s links
with the British Library. Unilever has a
customised document supply service at the
delivery end of all their end-user databases.
Jill says, ‘the British Library provides so
much critical value to our research activity
that we have integrated the service with
our own developing systems to ensure
they interface seamlessly.’

‘Unilever’s ethos is also about widening
the benefits of research,’ Angela continues.
‘Scientists are encouraged to share their
expertise so that their whole knowledge
community gains. For example, Dr Paul
Riley, one of our most experienced
researchers in oral healthcare has, for a
number of years, been lecturing on oral care
technology and this led to an interest in the
history of oral care and the development of
the brands that we see today. He’s surveyed
current understanding, set it in its historical
context, and outlined major innovations in
oral care. With 1,500 citations from the
Library’s collections, Oral Care Products and
Practices – A Historical Overview would
have been impossible to complete without
the British Library’s services and support.’

Angela describes Unilever’s information
needs as ‘wide ranging – we’re committed
to developing sustainable farming practices
around our raw materials production and
we take environmental responsibility for our
manufacturing processes very seriously. As
well as needing scientific information, we’re
constantly monitoring the social sciences,
including new research in consumer

The British Library’s document supply
operates 24 hours a day, giving Unilever’s
scientists the world-class coverage they
need. ‘However,’ says Angela, ‘what really
gives the British Library the edge is speed
and accuracy. Unilever’s scientists in the
US especially benefit from the Secure
Electronic Delivery service. They value the
certainty of knowing that the Library has
the information that’s needed. Supply is
reliable and now documents can be with
them in less than two hours.’

Unilever’s global
R&D spend in 2003
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THE DIFFERENCE WE MAKE
TO ENVIRONMENTAL IDEAS

The British Library Sound Archive,
the most comprehensive in the
world, generated delighted
media attention last year when
it announced that the wildlife
sound section was licensing 80
animal noises to mobile phone
ringtone suppliers.
The Archive identified the market
opportunities available with the launch
of next generation handsets, and teamed
up with agents 3GXMobile to broker the
innovative deals.
However, behind what might seem just
quirky charm is the direct and serious
contribution which the Library's bioacoustic
recordings make to zoology and ecology
researchers seeking solutions to environmental dilemmas, including identification
and protection of species. The diversity of
their research programmes is fuelled by the
Library's extraordinary range of 150,000
recordings, representing over 10,000 species.
Scottish Natural Heritage is using the
Archive’s recordings to relocate Arctic
Terns. The protected terns left their reserve
at St Cyrus to nest on an industrial estate
in Montrose, and have been displaying their
usual safeguarding behaviour: divebombing
the workforce and customers. The
businesses affected brought in Scottish
Natural Heritage to discuss health and
safety concerns. The result: the Sound
Archive’s recordings of gull colonies are
played on the roofs of the buildings, and
because terns dislike nesting near gulls,

r i b b ribbit
it

they don’t settle. Meanwhile at their
former home, the noise of nesting terns
is broadcast from weatherproof batterypowered sound systems, to lure the colony
back to its protected site.
Another protected species has benefited
from research assisted by the Sound
Archive. In 1990 Dr Gillian Gilbert of
Nottingham University began analysing
our recordings of one of Britain’s rarest
birds, the bittern. The male bittern booms
like a foghorn, and Dr Gilbert discovered
that the patterns of the distinctive call are
unique to individual birds. Camouflaged
in their reedbed homes, bitterns are
notoriously difficult to count and Dr Gilbert
used acoustic analysis to help census the
endangered population. By 1997 the male
bittern population had dropped to eleven.
The Royal Society for the Protection of
Birds used these alarming findings to
publicise the need to protect and improve
the bitterns’ habitat. The bittern population
is now growing again, and more than forty
males were recorded in 2003. Richard
Ranft, the Sound Archive’s bioacoustics
expert, says that ‘such a positive outcome
demonstrates the long-term and indirect
benefits of our work. I’m proud that the
Sound Archive was able to help rescue the
bittern from the brink of extinction in Britain.’
While the bittern’s a one-song creature,
the bushbaby has one of the most complex
vocalisations known. Some bushbabies
have as many as twenty different calls.
Each species produces a different range
of sounds, and Professor Simon Bearder
of Oxford Brookes University used their
distinctive vocal repertoire to identify
twelve new species to add to the six
previously known to science.

Professor Bearder explains that bushbaby
species can be very similar in appearance,
but be genetically distinct. ‘I’d been doing
field research in Africa on speciation in
bushbabies and I needed a way to identify
potentially different species at a distance.
I’d recognised that different species had
their own vocabularies, and heard that the
Sound Archive was doing pioneering work
using sonographs to analyse animal calls.’
‘I sought their advice on recording
technology and sound analysis. I recorded
bushbabies in different locations across
East Africa and found that sonograph
analysis supported my hypothesis that
separate species had evolved in a number
of locations. I was then able to confirm
this by genetic analysis. Now I add my
recordings to the British Library’s Archive
and continue to listen to new examples
contributed by other zoologists. When
sonograph analysis suggests a potentially
unrecognised species, I know where I need
to investigate further. There are strong
evolutionary forces acting on animal
populations in Africa and this work helps to
advance our understanding of how genetic
differences emerge. Bioacoustics makes an
increasing contribution to evolutionary
biology, and the more accessible the Library
can make its collection, the greater the
impact it can have.’

discs, tapes, CDs and cylinders,
make up the world’s most
comprehensive Sound Archive
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THE DIFFERENCE WE MAKE
TO RESEARCHERS

The British Library is systematically
deepening its links with higher
education, at the level of national
organisations, and with individual
institutions and scholars. This reflects
the fact that more than half of our
users are from the higher and further
education community. Our decadelong partnership with the University
of Sheffield, a leading research-led
civic university, is a notable example
of this engagement. The collaboration
was established to promote dialogue
between curators and academics and
has consistently helped us to develop
our understanding of university
research needs.
The relationship with Sheffield’s Humanities
Research Institute, which collaborates with
the Library on the development of leadingedge software applications, is particularly
strong. The Institute’s pioneering use of
technology in humanities research won
it the first Queen’s Anniversary Medal;
its latest project – www.oldbaileyonline.org
– was named best overall website in the
Department for Education and Skills’
Cybrarian Project Awards 2003. The project
brought centuries of Old Bailey proceedings
to the web, providing fertile ground for new
cross-disciplinary research and a wonderful
resource for schools, local historians and
family research.
A factor which underpins the research
strength of all UK universities is their special
access to the British Library’s document

supply service. It is estimated that UK
higher education saves between £30-40
million each year because universities can
rely on the Library’s centralised staffing,
storage and advanced IT infrastructure to
provide the current and long-term access
researchers need. As Martin Lewis, Sheffield
University’s Librarian, says, ‘Nowadays, the
size of a university library is no longer a
predictor of academic excellence. Rather,
it’s easy access to the richness of resources
that matters. For us, as for many university
libraries, this is one area where the link
to the British Library really pays off –
it augments our standard collection and
provides for a depth of research that we
wouldn’t otherwise be able to provide.’
One of the British Library’s leading services
in support of university research is Zetoc
which gives access to our electronic table
of contents database. This is freely available
throughout higher and further education.
It’s updated every 24 hours with details
of the 9,000 new international articles and
conference papers which become available
every day. It’s heavily used in Sheffield,
where many researchers have set up
customised wish lists to alert them to
up-to-date information as it appears. Zetoc
is part-funded by the higher education
community’s Joint Information Systems
Committee, and is a manifestation of the
Library’s strategic alliance with the Higher
Education Funding Council for England.
All of these services underpin the
Chancellor of the Exchequer’s imperative
to promote knowledge transfer between
university and business sectors ensuring
that they collaborate on the transfer of
ideas from creation to marketplace. Sheffield
University has a good track record in
generating new technology companies to
exploit the intellectual property developed

by its research departments, and here too
the Library plays a significant role.
SimCyp is one of Sheffield’s successful
spin-outs, specialising in developing
population modelling software for clinical
trials of new drugs. The company’s clients
include the FTSE 100 giants AstraZeneca,
GlaxoSmithKline, Pfizer and Roche.
SimCyp’s software enables compounds to
be fed into models that simulate the target
population demographics, variants added
such as other medication compounds likely
to be present within specific groups, and
adverse reactions identified. This early
screening allows the companies to spot
potential winning compounds early in their
development, and can save on the huge
costs of clinical trialling. SimCyp’s
Information Manager, Karen Yeo, relies
heavily on Sheffield’s link to the British
Library’s document supply for access to
specialist information. Karen says, ‘The
British Library has the most comprehensive
collection of international conference
proceedings, which is where the really
cutting-edge data first appears – well
before it’s published in the major journals.’

research articles are available to
universities from the British Library
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THE DIFFERENCE WE MAKE
TO THE CREATIVE INDUSTRIES

To celebrate 30 years of publishing
books by Delia Smith, Britain’s most
popular cook, BBC Worldwide
participated in the British Library’s
Adopt a Book programme. It
sponsored the conservation of
Eliza Acton’s 1846 classic, Modern
Cookery. ‘Eliza Acton is the best
writer of recipes in the English
language,’ says Delia. ‘You know
she’s cooked everything she’s
writing about.’
As an apprentice cook, Delia first
discovered Modern Cookery in the
British Library. ‘I was quite besotted with
the whole subject of cooking and I was
desperate to learn. I began to question
why everything was French. One of the
customers of the restaurant I was working
in explained that in the eighteenth century
the English were cooking better than
any other country, and that needed
rediscovering. He said I should go to the
British Library reading room. So I did and
got a wonderful grounding in cookery.’
Delia Smith has continued to acknowledge
the direct value of access to the Library and
the impact that early cookery writers had
on her career. As part of the celebrations
of her 30 years with the BBC, she cocurated an exhibition at the Library called
Eating In – the Golden Age of British
Cookery. Through her books and television

appearances, Delia has become a standardbearer for seasonal British ingredients and
has led a renaissance in our appreciation of
home cooking. Her influence is now such
that the BBC keeps food retailers informed
of the ingredients she will use in her TV
recipes – cranberries, for instance – otherwise they sell out of Britain’s supermarkets
the very next day; a phenomenon recorded
in the media as ‘the Delia effect’.
The Library has also been working with
another BBC icon, Terry Jones, whose series
Medieval Lives put him right in the middle
of the medieval action by animating pictures
from our manuscripts. His producer Paul
Bradshaw says, ‘The Library is the national
treasure house for all these extraordinary
stories of medieval lives. We worried that
there might be reservations when we said
we wanted to get beyond the standard
respectful approach, and bring a dynamic
touch to this marvellous medieval art. But
people in the Library were so co-operative,
and by animating the pictures we were able
to give a zest and humour to the series,
without losing the real seriousness of the
history that Terry wanted to get across.
The Library has helped us add a new
dimension to history on TV.’
The Medieval Lives research team relied
heavily on Images Online, the Library’s new
web-based image bank. Improving access
to the Library’s images has direct benefits
for users because they can find pictures that
used to be accessible only to a handful of
experts. As Christine Hinze, Picture Editor
at the popular BBC History magazine says,
‘Images Online is the single most exciting
development within the picture research

industry in recent times. To have ready
access to possibly the greatest collection
in the world is nothing short of a miracle.’
The British Library reading rooms have
long been at the hub of Britain’s creative
enterprise. Lord Evans, Chairman of Faber
and Faber, has said that ‘publishers and
authors rely on the British Library’s
unrivalled collections to provide the raw
materials that inspire and inform them in
their work.’ Currently nearly 25 per cent
of Library users are from the creative
industries, and this figure continues to grow
as the Library launches new catalogues,
online image banks, digitised treasures and
illustrated databases, revealing more and
more marvels. These provide fertile ground
for inspiration, prompting creative
practitioners in every medium to develop
work that engages new audiences.
History and cookery are two of broadcast
and print media’s most popular topics, and
they’re subjects on which the Library has
rich collections. Working with major creative
players like the BBC enables us to expose
this material to entertain, inform and inspire
millions of viewers. It’s also gratifying when
one of the nation’s most prominent cooks
returns to the Library to adopt the book
that set her career in motion.

Delia Smith cookery
books have been sold
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THE DIFFERENCE WE MAKE
TO REGIONAL PARTNERS

‘This is the book that made Britain’
ran the headline in the Sunday
Times when our exhibition Painted
Labyrinth: the world of the
Lindisfarne Gospels, opened in
summer 2003. That sense of
significance was palpable during
the exhibition, which attracted
record numbers of visitors, and
was transmitted throughout the
North East when a facsimile of
the Gospels went on tour.
The Library’s regional partnership team
developed the tour with North East
Museums Libraries and Archives Council
(NEMLAC). It is just one example of the
Library’s drive to give people throughout
the country greater access to their national
collection. Sue Underwood, Chief Executive
of NEMLAC, says that the partnership with
the British Library ‘reduces the distance
between the Library in London and the
2.5 million people in the North East.
We’re delighted to be working on a
range of innovative and collaborative
projects throughout the region.’
The Gospels were created in the North East
1,300 years ago, and the Library presented
facsimiles, as perfect as technology could
make them, to Durham Cathedral and to
the people of Holy Island. Another facsimile

School children in the North East directly
involved in the Lindisfarne Gospels
education programme

took a tour of the towns and villages of
Northumberland and Durham on the
mobile library service, stopping at schools,
town halls, community centres and local
libraries, where thousands of people were
able to get a closer look.
Alan Partington, Visitor Assistant in
Durham County Council Culture and
Leisure, travelled on Durham’s Book Bus
and introduced the Gospels at each of the
venues. ‘The response was fantastic. The
wonder and excitement that people felt
was terrific. Every visit became quite a
ceremony. People could turn the pages and
look at all the fine details. One man, who
was a prison officer, had taken time off to
travel up to see the book. He spent ages
looking at every page. It was really moving
to see how much it meant to him.’
Although every one of Britain’s 3,947
local libraries and 656 mobile library
services can make use of the British
Library’s interlending services, bringing
specialist books and journals right to
readers’ doorsteps – quite literally
sometimes – for the majority of people,
their national library can seem quite
distant. However, with NEMLAC the
Library created a programme that
promoted direct contact.
Ian Blackwell, NEMLAC’s Head of Access,
Learning and Skills, was delighted with
the response to the Lindisfarne Gospels
activities. ‘We covered every angle – we
sent a book about the Gospels into schools,

distributed Gospels bookmarks, put
resource packs into local museums and
school library services, and created
web pages full of ideas for lessons and
assemblies, with a link to the digitised
Lindisfarne Gospels on the marvellous
Turning the Pages site. In the first six weeks
of the project, 3,400 school children and
just over 1,000 teachers in the region were
directly involved in our Gospels education
programme. Michelle Brown, the British
Library’s Lindisfarne Gospels expert, came
and gave fascinating talks. The tour went
out to the villages, into the suburbs and
estates and was picked up by local press
and TV. Newcastle Council even created a
Lindisfarne Gospels garden for the Chelsea
Flower Show and it won a Silver Medal.
The whole programme built up enormous
local interest and generated real pride.’
We’re building on this success by
developing more regional exhibition
programmes and in summer 2004 will
be putting on an exhibition in Leeds
Central Library. Leeds has also led the
development of an online training course
that introduces local librarians to the range
of British Library services. This has been
endorsed by the Society of Chief Librarians,
which is to champion the programme
nationwide. The goal is to raise awareness
among librarians and archivists so that
they can promote our resources to their
readers whenever appropriate. Working
with local intermediaries in this way helps
us improve our reach – and become a truly
national library.
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THE DIFFERENCE WE MAKE
TO YOUNG LEARNERS

The British Library is committed to
enabling young people to develop
and equip themselves with the
skills, knowledge and personal
qualities needed for life and work.
The education team is dedicated
to fostering active learning and
teaching. It creates award-winning
interactive learning materials and
websites focused on supporting the
National Curriculum, runs regular
workshops and develops summer
schools and holiday programmes for
young people around King’s Cross.
One of the longest running programmes
is Journeys of Discovery, a summer project
run for the past five years in partnership
with Camden Council. Ifteker Boksh has
been a regular explorer on Journeys of
Discovery since he was nine years old and
a student at the local Argyle Primary School.
Now 14, Ifteker has become an invaluable
assistant to the Library’s summer project
planning team. ‘His advice on how to
engage young people is excellent. He
coaches and guides younger participants,
and also helps translate for some of the local
Bengali parents,’ says Bridget McKenzie,
the Library’s Head of Learning.
Each Journey of Discovery project aims
to make the Library’s summer exhibition
accessible and involving for young people –
especially those in our neighbourhood. The
exhibition becomes the springboard for

themes such as developing awareness of
how information is transmitted. Ifteker
explains, ‘Last year we used the patterns
in the Lindisfarne Gospels to discover how
people communicate ideas, and how
patterns are everywhere. Even our DNA is
a pattern of information. We started by
examining patterns in the Painted Labyrinth
exhibition at the Library. Then we went
out to places in Camden, like the neurology
hospital, taxi ranks, the Wellcome Trust and
Coram Fields, discovering more about
patterns. I became interested in patterns in
water and I was amazed to learn that when
you throw a stone into a pond, the ripples
start even before the stone hits the water.
I photographed exactly what happened.
I had to use a digital camera shooting four
frames a second. I had to try 16 times until
I got it right. Then I edited the pictures on
the computer in the Library to make a slow
motion sequence.’
The current craze for geocaching –
www.geocaching.com – prompted the
Library to use Global Positioning Systems
to develop its own hidden patterns treasure
trail, for which Ifteker helped devise clues
and record co-ordinates. This year, Ifteker
will help young people access and interpret
The Silk Road, the Library’s 2004 summer
exhibition, by working with the planning
team to devise a web-based trail which will
form part of a new project called Young
Explorers. This project, which complements
Journeys of Discovery, is for the 14-19 age
group and is being developed in partnership
with the Roundhouse, Camden’s pioneering
creative centre for young people.
Ifteker evaluates ideas for the programme,
and mediates between his peer group

and the Library. ‘It’s a role that he’s very
good at,’ says John Yandell, his form tutor
at Camden’s Haverstock School. ‘The
responsibilities Ifteker has at the British
Library and at the Roundhouse, where
he’s now on the Youth Advisory Board,
all reinforce his skill as a negotiator between
the adult world and his own. Even though
he’s moved away from the Library’s
immediate neighbourhood, he’s kept
in close contact. Over the years his
involvement with the Library has helped to
broaden his horizons. Some of our students
have relatively few opportunities to
experience different ways of learning outside
the school or home. His experiences on the
Library’s summer projects have been very
important to him and by sharing his
knowledge with other students in his group
he’s stimulated a lot of interest in the Library’s
summer exhibitions and creative activities.’

young learners attended British
Library workshops and visited our
learning website

26 BRITISH LIBRARY ANNUAL REPORT AND ACCOUNTS 2003/2004

Making a

measurable

difference
The bottom line...

The British Library is undertaking
a transformational modernisation
programme. In 2000 we appointed
a new CEO and have subsequently
reorganised the entire management
structure, set a rigorous strategic
agenda, completely re-engineered
the largest information supply service
in the world, radically transformed
Human Resources and secured
electronic legal deposit legislation.
The British Library is making existing
resources go further. Since 2000 we
have achieved efficiency savings of
£17 million which we have reinvested
in our services and in sustaining our
collection purchasing power. These
savings have been achieved as part of
an overall programme of reform and
service improvement which will
realise £65 million cumulatively in
operating savings by 2007/08.
The British Library is committed to
delivering Government’s strategic aims.
Our investment in new technology,
customer-focused public service
delivery and greater access to services
underpins key Government priorities.

The British Library is an outstanding
investment for public funds.
Groundbreaking research has
shown that we generate £363
million of value for the UK economy
each year, equivalent to £4.40 for
every £1 of public money invested.
The British Library will play a
significant and leading role in
archiving the UK’s digital future.
As more and more material is
published digitally, we are the only
organisation that can manage the
collection of digital items published
in the UK.
The British Library must maintain
its position as one of the greatest
research libraries in the world.
We need to ensure that our
collection and services continue to
keep pace with other world libraries,
enabling our users to develop,
deliver and advance world-class
research, scholarship and business
innovation for the benefit of the
UK economy.
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‘ The British Library is the

greatest custodian of our written
and spoken heritage and makes
a highly valued contribution to
the national economy through
its unique support for business,
research, innovation and
higher education.’
RT HON LORD McINTOSH OF HARINGEY
MINISTER FOR MEDIA AND HERITAGE
with responsibility for libraries

28 BRITISH LIBRARY ANNUAL REPORT AND ACCOUNTS 2003/2004

BRITISH LIBRARY ANNUAL REPORT AND ACCOUNTS 2003/2004 29

Grants and Donations
Without charitable gifts and grants the British Library could not continue
to maintain its position as one of the greatest research libraries in the world.
All of us at the Library thank every private individual, trust, corporation and
grant-making body that has shown confidence in the work of the Library
for your vision and generosity. We continue to be grateful for the ongoing
and long-standing support of the Friends of the British Library and the
American Trust for the British Library. Your support has impact now,
and through this Annual Report, we demonstrate that the returns we
are making on your gifts will resonate with generations to come.
Particularly valuable grants this year have been pledged by the Wolfson Foundation and Garfield
Weston Foundation who have both committed significant contributions to our planned Centre for
Conservation. We are still seeking funds for this critically important project.
The Lisbet Rausing Charitable Fund has chosen the Library as its partner to help identify and
protect endangered archives. This £10 million programme will identify archives threatened by war,
natural disaster or neglect and provide grants to help relocate them to secure institutional facilities
in the region to which they relate. The original matter will not leave its cultural home. However,
the British Library will generate and maintain copies of the material so that it can be made available
to other libraries and research centres throughout the world. We are delighted to be a partner in
this visionary programme.
To fund additional digitisation of sound recordings and out-of-copyright newspapers, the Library
is grateful for a £3 million commitment from the higher and further education community’s Joint
Information Systems Committee which has recognised that the material is difficult to use in its
present form. Digitisation will give researchers access to a rich seam of primary source material.
The process is costly and we are grateful for the example shown by higher and further education.
Finally, we wish to acknowledge £2 million pledged indirectly by the Arts and Humanities Research
Board in partnership with UK higher education institutions. Through its Resource Enhancement
Scheme we will be able to support additional research and cataloguing projects based on the
Library’s collections.
Highlighting the value which important sponsors and donors attribute to the Library helps us to
attract more. Our appreciation cannot be overstated and we welcome your further commitment to
share the British Library’s value with others and encourage them to give as you have given.
With our sincere thanks

The British Library would like to
thank all those who have given
their support, including,

and catalogue Dunhuang material, and for
collaborative projects with the New York
Public Library

The American Trust for the British Library,
for the Silk Road exhibition, the David and
Mary Eccles Centre for American Studies,
an Internship in Art History, and the
Codex Sinaiticus project

The National Art Collections Fund,
for paintings from the Archer collection

The Arts & Humanities Research Board,
for four collaborative projects with SOAS,
the Institute of English Studies and Royal
Holloway, University of London
Associated Newspapers,
for the Corporate Benefactor programme
The late Frederick Avis,
a bequest for the Library’s greatest need
Sir Michael and Lady Bett,
for the Library’s greatest need
Elizabeth Browning,
for the Library’s greatest need
Professor David Cast,
historic photos of India from the late
nineteenth century
Dr and Mrs Paul Cushman Jr,
London theatre memorabilia from the 1940s
The late Mary, Viscountess Eccles,
a bequest which will include her Oscar Wilde
collection and a further contribution to the
David and Mary Eccles Centre for American
Studies endowment
The Lord Farringdon Charitable Trust,
for the Lytton Papers acquisition
The Friends of the British Library,
for the Lytton Papers acquisition
The Friends of the National Libraries,
for the Ted Hughes letters and
Lytton Papers acquisition
The Simon Gibson Charitable Trust,
for the Traditional Music in England project

LYNNE BRINDLEY
CHIEF EXECUTIVE

Mark Kreuger, to the American Trust for the
British Library, for the Integrated Library System
The Gladys Krieble Delmas Foundation,
to the American Trust for the British Library,
for cataloguing of India Office Military Records
Handwriting of Italian Humanists,
for a manuscripts curator
The Hans Christian Andersen 2005
Foundation, for the Hans Christian Andersen
in Britain exhibition
The Heritage Lottery Fund,
for the Lytton Papers acquisition
The Idlewild Trust,
for the Traditional Music in England project
The Jerwood Charitable Foundation,
for the Jerwood Photography Project
The Lynn Foundation,
for the Traditional Music in England project
The Andrew W Mellon Foundation,
for a collaborative project with the Institute
of Oriental Studies in St Petersburg to digitise

The Muban Foundation, for the
Chinese Printmaking Today exhibition

Pearson plc,
for the Pearson Creative Research Fellowship
The Penny Charitable Trust,
for the Original Photographs project
The Pidem Fund,
for the Silk Road exhibition
Mrs Kathleen Price,
for scientific manuscripts and letters of her
father, George R Price
The Lisbet Rausing Charitable Fund,
for the Endangered Archives programme
John Ritblat and the Ritblat Family,
for the John Ritblat Gallery: Treasures
of the British Library
The Sino-British Fellowship Trust,
for the Silk Road exhibition
The Garfield Weston Foundation,
for the Centre for Conservation
The Wolfson Foundation,
for the Centre for Conservation
Lord Eatwell, Rodney Leach, Duncan Lewis,
The Margery Fish Charity, Mediatique,
Palamon Capital Partners, and John Ritblat, for
sponsorship of the Annual Literary Dinner 2003
Plus all those who have given anonymously,
provided gifts-in-kind, and made legacy
pledges.
BRITISH LIBRARY FOUNDING PATRONS
Austen Patron
The Clore Duffield Foundation
Woolf Patrons
Leslie Tobin Bacon
The Band Trust
William and Judith Bollinger
Lincoln and Lillian Chin
Mrs Lisa von Clemm
David Dangoor, The Exilarch’s Foundation
Lord and Lady Egremont
Sam Fogg
Mr and Mrs Ronald Freeman
Izzy Lane
Robert and Michelle McCarthy
Nigel and Joanna Newton
Dr and Mrs Mortimer D Sackler
Christine and Ronald Zeghibe
AMERICAN TRUST FOR THE BRITISH LIBRARY
Chairman’s Council
George B Adams
Charlotte P Armstrong
Roger S Baskes
Mrs Christopher Chen
Paulette Cushman
Dr Paul Cushman Jr
Ronald M Freeman
William B Ginsberg

William T Golden
Lansing Lamont
William R Miller
Howard Phipps Jr
Ruth Robinson
Arthur Ross
Jane Gregory Rubin
Stephen Stamas
Dr Prudence L Steiner
Mrs Michael von Clemm
Benefactors
Mrs Alvin Deutsch
Mr and Mrs Ralph E Hansmann
Helene L Kaplan
Charles E Pierce Jr
Ronald Zeghibe
Patrons
Mr and Mrs Michael E Gellert
Mr and Mrs Richard L Menschel
Mr and Mrs Daniel Rose
Mr and Mrs Alfred Ross
Christine Zuromskis
BENEFACTORS TO ADOPT A BOOK
Our thanks to all those who adopted
books in 2003/04, including,
Patricia Adams
Bernadette Allaert
BBC Worldwide
A T Blair
Carole Dale
Michael Godbee
Felicia Eastman Head
M S Hills
Noel Kinnamon
J MacLeod
Binnie Mobsby
Sheila Newman
Margot Paterson
Wing Kay Po and W K Lam
Barbara M Purvis
Richard Rouse
Dorothy Rouse-Bottom
Janatha Stubbs
Gwen Walwyn
Kurt and Charlotte Weinberg
Richard Williams
Caroline and Robin Wilson
PATRONS AND CORPORATE BENEFACTORS
OF THE NATIONAL LIFE STORY COLLECTION
English Heritage
The Institute of the Masters of Wine
The Fishmongers’ Company
The Calouste Gulbenkian Foundation
Northern Foods
Pentagram Design Limited
The PF Charitable Trust
The Lisbet Rausing Trust
The Max Reinhardt Charitable Trust
Royal Mail
Safeway Stores plc
Tesco Stores Limited
Wolff Olins Limited
Yale Center for British Art
The Vintners’ Company
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Funding Agreement and
key performance indicators
The Funding Agreement is the principal sponsorship and planning document between the Department for
Culture, Media and Sport and the British Library, and sets out the outputs and levels of performance that
the Library is expected to deliver to achieve Ministerial objectives. This section contains the Funding
Agreement indicators and other key performance indicators used by the Library to measure performance
at a corporate level.

PERFORMANCE AGAINST FUNDING AGREEMENT TARGETS 2003/04
Measure

Target
2003/04

Actual
2003/04

Target
2002/03

Actual
2002/03

Target
2001/02

Actual
2001/02

Reading room user satisfaction: percentage of readers rating
the services and facilities they used as either ‘excellent’ or ‘good’

90%

92%

90%

92%

89%

90%

Exhibition visitors rating the quality of their visit as either
‘excellent’ or ‘good’

98%

98%

98%

98%

98%

99%

UK remote user satisfaction: percentage of users who are
‘completely satisfied’ with the document supply service

80%

83%

80%

82%

85%

81%

50,000

102,686

n/a

n/a

n/a

n/a

7,500

8,173

5,000

6,679

4,950

7,604

60%

59%

n/a

n/a

n/a

n/a

420,000

557,136

n/a

n/a

n/a

n/a

Number of searches of the British Library Public Catalogue

8,150,000

9,721,574

7,200,000

8,490,040

7,500,000

6,876,148

Number of items supplied/consulted remotely and onsite 2

5,447,600

5,320,032

5,502,602

5,756,988

8,967,441

8,515,227

399,100

397,940

384,500

407,729

466,600

431,525

9.00

9.19

9.00

9.47

7.00

9.01

1

The initial target for number of visitors to virtual
exhibitions, set at the beginning of the year, did
not include two exhibitions added during the year.
If these are excluded from the figures, the number
of visitors to the Library’s onsite and virtual
exhibitions is 524,329 for which the original
target had been 420,000.

2

We are constantly refining and improving the
accuracy of our measures. The method for
calculating the number of items consulted
in the reading rooms changed in 2003/04.
We now use a factor for estimating the number
of items consulted in the Science reading rooms
which is lower than the factor used previously.
The factor was amended to take into account
the change in usage by science and business
researchers (in particular patent researchers),
who now use electronic resources for much of
their research. The use of this new methodology
would give the comparable figure for the actual
number of items supplied/consulted remotely
and onsite in 2002/03 as 5,756,988 instead of
8,182,428 as previously reported. The target has
been revised accordingly. The figures given for
2001/02 have not been amended to take account
of the change in methodology and are therefore
not comparable with those given for 2002/03
and 2003/04. The underlying decline between
2002/03 and 2003/04 was as a result of a fall
in document supply volume as a result of
changing publishing models.

Quality

Throughput
Number of visitors to the Library’s ‘learning’ website
Number of children attending educational sessions
Proportion of children attending educational sessions
from inner city schools
Number of visitors to the Library’s onsite and virtual exhibitions1

Number of visits to reading rooms3

Efficiency
Average sick leave in working days per staff member

3

The method for calculating reading room visits
changed in 2002/03. We now count the number
of readers who request one or more items per
day rather than taking a head count at a certain
time in the day. The use of this new methodology
means that the figures are lower than previously
reported. However, experienced reading room
staff report that the reading rooms are busier
than ever.
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(continued)

PERFORMANCE AGAINST OTHER KEY PERFORMANCE TARGETS 2003/04
Measure

Target
2003/04

Actual
2003/04

Target
2002/03

Actual
2002/03

Target
2001/02

Actual
2001/02

£1.40m

£1.46m

£1.24m

£1.36m

£1.01m

£1.11m

Financial performance 1
Expenditure on acquisition of digital material

Quality
Percentage of material held onsite delivered in St Pancras
reading rooms within 70 mins

90%

93%

90%

92%

90%

91%

40

40

50

34

50

61

Books

188,000

184,918

178,000

193,430

177,523

187,324

Serial titles

109,900

106,739

110,000

106,125

107,408

112,369

Newspaper issues

172,000

182,347

179,800

175,738

185,800

172,949

2,025,000

1,849,716

2,000,000

2,051,470

1,750,000

1,992,763

192,068

153,815

164,500

165,244

168,840

172,676

2,831

2,695

1,980

2,274

n/a

n/a

Reader passes issued

65,820

50,834

61,287

61,302

62,500

57,212

Cataloguing backlogs

357,680

385,971

438,000

437,792

444,340

475,232

Catalogue records created 4

749,450

884,249

565,000

618,661

397,544

571,711

Digital images created

489,685

492,893

500,000

527,177

n/a

n/a

Pages of digitised material viewed over the web 5

3,570,000

4,742,754

1,000,000

4,677,049

n/a

n/a

Percentage of UK legal deposit material acquired

96%

97%

96%

96%

96%

96%

Document supply and monograph lending fulfilment rate 6

85%

82%

85%

83%

85%

83%

British National Bibliography ‘hit rate’ 7

85%

89%

85%

89%

85%

85%

1

These figures are reported on a cash basis.

2

These are loans to individual institutions, not
numbers of items lent. The average number of
items per loan in 2003/04 was 8.5.

3

Figures reflect acquisition by purchase, donation,
exchange and through legal deposit.

4

The variations in cataloguing output reflect the
uneven pattern of adding large quantities of
derived records for retrospective holdings to the
Sound Archive’s catalogue of sound recordings.

5

The initial target, set at the beginning of the year,
was for viewings of digitised images available at
that time on the Library’s website. During the year
the Library added further sets of digitised images
to the web and therefore exceeded the original
target considerably. There were 4,504,633 pages
of digitised images viewed for which the original
target had been 3,570,000.

6

As more researchers are using local electronic
resources, the requests we receive are increasingly
‘hard to find’. As a result a slightly lower percentage
has been satisfied within Library stock than in
previous years.

7

Figures are averages taken over each financial
year. The BNBMARC ‘hit rate’ is derived from
an independent survey carried out by UKOLN:
the UK Office for Library and Information Networking
at the University of Bath. It measures the availability
of catalogue records from the Library’s British
National Bibliography database. The figure of
89% for 2003/04 shows that catalogue records
for 89 out of every 100 items acquired by UK
libraries could be found on the Library’s database
at the time the books were about to be catalogued,
thus eliminating the need for libraries to create their
own records.

Throughput
Exhibition loans to other institutions 2
Items acquired 3

Patent specifications
Other special materials
Electronic

Efficiency
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Statistics 2003/04

Statistics 2003/04

Figures illustrating the scale and breadth of the Library’s activities are
set out in the following tables.
COLLECTION DEVELOPMENT

SERVICE IN THE READING ROOMS
1

Seats available for users (at 31 March 2004)
Reader desks

Humanities 1 and 2 Reading Rooms
Rare Books and Music Reading Room
Maps Reading Room
Oriental and India Office Reading Room
Manuscripts Reading Room
Philatelic Collections
Business, Science and Patent Reading Rooms
Newspapers (Colindale)
Boston Spa Reading Room
Total

Other

provision1

424
281
37
74
72
1
224
77
76

90
87
21
46
25
1
116
76
11

1,266

473

2

These databases are available on the British
Library Public Catalogue on our website.

3

Available on the Library’s website.

4

Titles of articles and conference papers made
available through the Inside and Zetoc services.

5

Grey literature is material such as official reports
and theses which may not be available through
standard suppliers.

6

Other reader services
Reader education: training session attendees
Disability Support Officer: number of contacts

2003/04

2002/03

1,022
452

1,041
473

This includes seating for typing, the Library’s
Online Catalogue and other catalogues,
microform, Internet and CD-Rom access
and study carrels.

The total does not represent the number of
unique records. There is significant overlap
between some files e.g. BNB and Humanities
and Social Sciences.

Holdings (at 31 March)

(at 31 March)

Allied and Complementary Medicine (AMED)
British National Bibliography (BNB)
Boston Spa Books 2
Boston Spa Conferences 2
Boston Spa Serials2
British Library Catalogue 2
Sound Archive Catalogue 3
English Short Title Catalogue
Humanities and Social Sciences 2
Incunable Short Title Catalogue
Electronic table of contents 3,4
International Standard Serial Numbers (ISSN) UK Centre
Manuscripts 3
Maps
Music 2
Newspapers 3
Register of Preservation Surrogates
Science, Technology and Business 2
System for Information on Grey Literature in Europe 2,5
Total6

11,223,249
836,328
55,718
312,263
391,374
8,220,994
4,301,034
1,590,029
1,285,914
221,967
25,193
32,597
251,049
53,483,537
10,115,000
176,200

2003/04

2002/03

174,081
2,223,316
1,495,583
473,891
626,922
4,441,157
3,021,101
368,760
2,808,870
29,438
23,235,817
72,178
762,117
218,608
282,912
52,398
197,159
408,577
868,512

167,674
2,105,761
1,417,182
459,833
621,505
4,436,433
2,806,057
368,760
2,617,645
29,021
c. 20,981,000
69,579
748,250
212,444
278,025
51,972
187,724
399,990
828,579

41,761,397

38,787,434

2

The figure for serial titles is also based on the
number of records in the relevant catalogues.
Changes of title are therefore counted as
separate titles. However, the figure includes
official publications for many countries,
a significant proportion of which is issued
in series and is therefore covered by single
records within the catalogues.

3

The figure for newspaper titles includes
weekly and fortnightly magazines as well
as newspapers.

4

The figure for India Office records includes
Private Papers which have not been included
previously.

5

The figure for photographs includes those from
the Asia, Pacific and Africa Collections as well
as Maps, Manuscripts and Printed Books.

6

The figure for reports in microform includes
reports from all countries.

92,522,446

Items received on legal deposit

Records in British Library catalogues and databases

The figure for monographs is based on the
number of records in the relevant catalogues.
It therefore relates to the number of titles
rather than to the number of volumes held.

2004

Monographs 1
Serial titles (all) 2
Newspaper titles (all) 3
Manuscripts (single and volumes)
India Office records 4
Philatelic items
Cartographic items
Music scores
Sound discs
Sound tape items
Videograms
Prints and drawings
Photographs 5
Patent specifications
Reports in microform 6
Theses 7
Total

BIBLIOGRAPHIC SERVICES

1

Monographs
Serial issues
Maps and atlases
Music scores
Newspaper issues
Playscripts
Total
Serial titles received
Claims for items not automatically deposited 8

2003/04

2002/03

102,774
313,812
2,107
2,210
150,668
330

100,671
296,657
2,169
1,549
152,643
421

7

The figure for theses represents those currently
held by the Library. In addition, the Library
can acquire on demand theses from those
universities participating in our ‘Thesis Service’.
Previously, we have included theses available
on demand in our figures.

8

Titles received by the end of the year.

571,901

554,110

9

41,550
110,744

47,069
83,997

The website provides access to the Library’s
online content and services for researchers,
people in business, library and information
professionals, learners and the general public.
The site is available at www.bl.uk.

10 ‘Unique hosts served’ is the best approximation
available of the number of individual users of
the website.

WEBSITE USAGE
Use of the Library’s website 9
Unique hosts served 10
Successful requests for pages (page hits)

2003/04

2002/03

2,481,967
24,382,906

1,815,805
18,427,973
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Governance and leadership
THE BOARD

STORAGE
1

Kilometres of shelving and percentage occupied
Working capacity: linear km 1
Extent of collection: linear km 2,3
Percentage fullness

2003/04

2002/03

654.5
606.0
92.6%

651.0
599.0
92.0%

PRESERVATION

2

Preservation funding £m (gross)
Grant in Aid
Donations/external funds
Sales income
Total

2003/04

2002/03

7.20
0.11
0.33

6.21
0.15
0.34

7.64

6.70

3

Items preserved
Conservation and/or rebinding
New binding
Minor repairs
Boxing/other work 4
Preservation microfilming
Total
Book cleaning: linear metres

2003/04

2002/03

7,148
84,342
22,418
28,615
13,719

11,333
86,367
35,340
37,580
14,054

156,242

184,674

9,139

10,849

4

5

2003/04 was the third year of a programme
(originally planned over three years but now
extended for a fourth year), to make the most
efficient use of the Library’s storage by reducing
duplicates and rearranging stock. The working
capacity increased by 3.5 linear kms in 2003/04
when the office space formerly allocated to the
Booknet service (which ceased operation in
2002/03) was reallocated to collection storage.
‘Extent of collection’ stands for the linear
length of the solid stock, plus the associated
growth spaces without which the collection
could not be used and added to effectively.
During 2003/04 the gross increase in the
extent of the material acquired by the Library
was 11 km. The net increase in the extent of
the collection was reduced to 7 km through
the de-accessioning at Boston Spa of duplicate
material as well as the removal of growth space
(previously allocated to serials that had ceased
publication), as part of the move of some stock
from London to Boston Spa. 2003/04 was the
last year of major deduplication at Boston Spa.
‘Other work’ covers miscellaneous programmes.
Year-on-year fluctuations of outputs are
significant because these cover a wide range
of programmes.
Details the work summarised against
preservation microfilming line of ‘Items
preserved’ in the table.

The British Library Board is ultimately responsible for the development of Library
strategy and policy and for overseeing its execution by management.
Under the terms of the British Library Act 1972, the Board comprises a Chairman
appointed by the Secretary of State for Culture, Media and Sport and not less than
eight, nor more than thirteen, other members of whom one is appointed by HM the
Queen and the remainder by the Secretary of State. Ministerial appointments to the
British Library Board are subject to the Code of Practice and detailed guidance of the
Commissioner for Public Appointments.
MEMBERSHIP AT 31 MARCH 2004

THE EXECUTIVE TEAM
The Executive Team has responsibility for the
day-to-day management of the Library.
MEMBERSHIP AT 31 MARCH 2004

CHAIRMAN

EILEEN MACKAY CB FRSE

CHIEF EXECUTIVE

The Rt Hon Lord Eatwell of
Stratton St Margaret MA PhD

Non-Executive Director
Royal Bank of Scotland Group

Lynne Brindley MA FCILIP FRSA

CHIEF EXECUTIVE

SIMON OLSWANG BA Econ

Lynne Brindley MA FCILIP FRSA

Solicitor, Attorney at Law (California)
Formerly Chairman
Olswang

DIRECTOR

SIR HENRY BOYD-CARPENTER

KCVO MA (appointed by HM the Queen)
Formerly Senior Partner
Farrer and Co.
ROBIN BROADHURST CBE FRICS

Formerly European Chairman
Jones Lang LaSalle
PROFESSOR ROBERT G BURGESS PhD AcSS

Vice Chancellor
University of Leicester

DR GARETH W ROBERTS BSc, PhD, MBA, FRSA

Director
Sciona Ltd and Isohelix,
Partner
Opine Consultancy

Scholarship and Collections
Dr Clive Field MA DPhil FRHistS
DIRECTOR

Operations and Services
Natalie Ceeney MA FRSA
DIRECTOR

Strategic Marketing and Communications
Jill Finney BA MBA

SECRETARY TO THE BOARD

DIRECTOR

Andrew Stephens BSc
Head, Corporate Secretariat

e-Strategy and Information Systems
Richard Boulderstone BSc
DIRECTOR

Preservation microfilming 5

SHEILA FORBES CBE

Frames

Non-Executive Director
Tribal Group plc and OCS Group Ltd

Newspapers
Books, periodicals, record volumes, manuscripts
Total

2003/04

2002/03

13,116,703
2,145,086

13,031,509
2,603,416

DUNCAN LEWIS MA

15,634,925

Senior Policy Adviser
The Carlyle Group

15,261,789

Human Resources
Mary Canavan FCIPD
INTERIM DIRECTOR

SIR COLIN LUCAS D.Phil FRHistS

Vice-Chancellor
University of Oxford

The Library maintains a register of
interests of Members of the Board.
The register will be made available
for inspection on application to the
Secretary to the Board, who can also
provide copies of the information
it contains.

ADVISORY AND SUPPORT BODIES
Following the recommendations of an independent review of the British Library’s corporate
governance and advisory arrangements, the Library’s Advisory Council has been re-constituted
within the existing framework in order to give a more strategic focus to its deliberations.
The Library is in the process of appointing members to the Council, and the first meeting
of the newly established group is planned for September 2004.

Finance and Corporate Resources
Robert Kirton FCCA MA MIMgt FRSA
SECRETARY TO THE EXECUTIVE TEAM

Hannah Jenkins BA
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Organisational structure

LORD EATWELL
CHAIRMAN
‘ The passion and power of this original manuscript
of James Joyce’s Finnegans Wake is overwhelming
– a real insight into what was driving the author.
As vivid today as it was in 1924, it is a reminder to
all of us of the contribution which passionate and
powerful work can make to the cultural, intellectual
and economic life of a nation. As Chairman, I am
committed to ensuring that each member of the
British Library Board contributes to the development
of the Library’s strategy and policies and is fully
engaged in helping secure the funding which is
required for the Library to continue to advance
world-class research, scholarship and business
innovation for the benefit of the UK economy.’

DR CLIVE FIELD
DIRECTOR, SCHOLARSHIP
AND COLLECTIONS
‘ One of the Library’s core activities is to provide
access to one of the greatest collections in the
world, which every year continues to grow.
This year we acquired the letters of Ted Hughes
to Leonard Baskin who illustrated much of
Hughes’s work. Researchers will now be able
to gain fresh insight into this hugely influential
creative partnership. My teams are responsible
for strategic and operational management of
the collection in all formats and at all stages
of its life cycle – selecting, acquiring, cataloguing,
processing, storing and preserving. We also
contribute to providing a wide range of
value-added services to facilitate access to,
interpretation and use of the collections by
both scholarly and general audiences.’

LYNNE BRINDLEY
CHIEF EXECUTIVE
‘ Our strategy has to be as agile and adaptable as
information itself. The distribution of communication
networks and the development of technology like
the Blackberry means that information is now
accessible virtually anywhere – the virtual world
has become the real world. As Chief Executive,
I am committed to harnessing the talents of the
Library’s teams to increase the contribution that
enterprising use of the British Library’s collections
makes to UK competitiveness.’

NATALIE CEENEY
DIRECTOR, OPERATIONS
AND SERVICES
‘ Constantly tailoring our services to meet the needs
of our users, we support entrepreneurs, SMEs,
authors and academics, as well as researchers in
FTSE 100 companies. I am proud to read the
acknowledgements of users such as Deborah Jaffe
who, in her book Ingenious Women, thanks my
colleagues in the reading rooms for ‘their skills,
energy and patience.’ As we launch our new
Business and Intellectual Property Centre, it’s also
encouraging to receive Deborah’s endorsement
that we ‘understand the enthusiasm and mind of
the inventor.’ My teams are responsible for making
the full range of Library services meet the everchanging needs of our users through access to
information in our reading rooms and through
documents supplied directly to their desktops.
My teams also secure partnerships with publishers
for digital rights and generate revenue through
the sale of our priced services.’

JILL FINNEY
DIRECTOR, STRATEGIC MARKETING
AND COMMUNICATIONS
‘ Everything we do is driven by the needs of our
users. Lenin’s 1902 application for a reader’s
pass reminds us of the impact which every user
has the potential to make on history. Through the
assets of the Library, my teams raise awareness
of the Library’s scope, importance, value, quality,
inclusiveness and cachet. We ensure that every
stakeholder and potential beneficiary recognises
the advantage they can derive from the Library’s
people and collections. As we extend our reach,
my teams build co-operative partnerships with
businesses, researchers, young learners, the
UK library network and the general public. In
addition we manage external affairs, fundraising
and internal communications.’

RICHARD BOULDERSTONE
DIRECTOR, E-STRATEGY
AND INFORMATION SYSTEMS
‘ It is hard to imagine how close the world was to
the digital revolution when the late Professor Bill
Hamilton, often called by his colleagues ‘Darwin’s
heir’, ran this rare 5-hole computer tape on an
Atlas computer in 1965. Responsible for the
effective development, integration and delivery
of all electronic and IT functions across the Library,
my teams design, build and support the Library’s
IT architecture so that our users’ requirements,
now and in the future, will always be met. Our
commitment to investing in new technology
remains paramount.’

MARY CANAVAN
DIRECTOR,
HUMAN RESOURCES
‘ In the modernised Library there is more to
Human Resources than Persuasion, first
published in 1823. My teams are responsible
for transforming all aspects of HR – attracting,
selecting, inducting, training, developing and
retaining the very best person for every job.
This year we commenced discussions with the
trade unions to modernise the Library’s pay
and grading, launched a major performance
management programme which has already
started to influence 2,000 employees and
rolled out an Excellence in Leadership
programme to 150 managers.’

ROBERT KIRTON
INTERIM DIRECTOR, FINANCE
AND CORPORATE RESOURCES
‘ From Greece, circa 150 AD, this papyrus
submission for expenses incurred for copying
the plays of Sophocles and Aristophanes
shows that the earliest cultures recognised the
importance of maintaining financial records.
We manage complex financial data every day
as we promote efficiencies and optimise our
funding. However, in the modernised Library
our role encompasses much more than financial
planning and management. My teams are
responsible for corporate governance, risk
management and co-ordinating strategy.
We work with colleagues across the Library
to develop rigorous business plans and
management information systems. We are
also responsible for managing and developing
the Library’s estate in London and Yorkshire.’
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Financial overview
The British Library’s income for 2003/04 was
£119.5 million, 75% of which was Grant in Aid
from the Department for Culture, Media and
Sport. £78.7 million of this was operational
Grant in Aid, with the balance including grants
for restructuring and capital programmes. The
Department continues to hold £5.4 million of
funding which is to be applied to the design
and construction of a Centre for Conservation
to the north of the St Pancras building.
Income from trading activities was £25.4
million. This represented a decline of £1.6
million from 2002/03 reflecting a further
reduction in sales from the document supply
activity, the Library’s principal source of
commercial revenue. However, operational
restructuring and cost reduction measures
ensured that contribution from these
activities was maintained.
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Foreword
Expenditure on support activities fell by
4% in the year as the Library continued its
restructuring programmes. Expenditure on
acquisitions for the collections was £13.9
million compared with £13.6 million the
previous year.
Following the closure of the British Library
Pension Scheme in 2002 and the transfer of
members and pensioners to the Principal Civil
Service Pension Scheme, the final transfer
payment in respect of all scheme liabilities was
made during the year. The payment totalled
£315.8 million and was funded by the
Department for Culture, Media and Sport.

CONSTITUTION
The British Library was established under
Section 1(1) of the British Library Act 1972
(the Act) as the national library of the United
Kingdom. Section 1(2) of the Act placed it
under the control and management of the
British Library Board, the duty of which is to
manage the Library as a national centre for
reference, study and bibliographical and
other information services, in relation both to
scientific and technological matters and to the
humanities. The British Library has exempt
charitable status.

is set out on page 46. This shows all resources
made available to the British Library Board and
all expenditure incurred by it and reconciles all
changes in its funds.

OBJECTIVES
Under Sections 1(3) and 1(4) of the Act
the Board is required to make the services
of the British Library available to the public
(in particular to institutions of education and
learning, other libraries and industry). It may
carry out and sponsor research, contribute to
the expenses of library authorities or other
persons providing library facilities, and make
any part of its collections, or of its premises,
available in connection with events of an
educational, literary or cultural nature. Under
Section 2, the Schedule to the Act empowers
the Board to impose charges for any services
provided or for the loan or use of any item from
its collections subject to the approval of the
Secretary of State for Culture, Media and Sport.

There was a net increase in the movement
of funds after revaluation in the year of
£1.2 million. This was a decrease of £0.8 million
on the unrestricted funds and an increase of
£2.0 million on the restricted funds. The excess
of income over expenditure of £3.1 million
before St Pancras depreciation, movements
between revenue funds and the pension transfer
was principally a consequence of the fixed assets
purchased during the year of £5.5 million.

BOARD MEMBERSHIP
Details of Board members who served between
1 April 2003 and 31 March 2004 as published
on page 53.
ACCOUNTING CONVENTIONS
The basis on which the accounts have been
prepared is stated on page 49 at note 1a.
FINANCIAL RESULTS
The Accounts provide a Statement of the
Financial Activities (SOFA) of the Board during
the year ended 31 March 2004. In accordance
with Section 5(1) of the Act, as amended by
Statutory Instrument 1986 No 600, the
Secretary of State paid to the Board such sums
as were necessary to defray expenses incurred
with his approval, so far as those expenses
exceeded the receipts derived from the exercise
of the Board’s functions and applied in such
manner as required by Section 5(2) of the Act.
The Accounts have been prepared to take
account of the Statement of Recommended
Practice (SORP) 2000 Accounting for Charities.
A Statement of Financial Activities for the year

The British Library Board generated total
income of £119.5 million, of which Grant in
Aid received was £89.3 million. Sales income
declined from £27.1 million in the previous year
to £25.4m, the majority of this being due to
a decrease in the revenue generated from the
document supply services. However margins for
this service were maintained at last year’s levels.

PENSIONS
During 2003/04 the pension scheme liability,
in respect of the earlier transfer of existing
members and eligible employees to the
Principal Civil Service Pension Scheme (PCSPS),
was both funded from DCMS and paid to
PCSPS. Further details can be found on page
52 at note 6a.

users. Main communication channels include
a staff newsletter, team briefing system and
employee intranet.
KEY PERFORMANCE INDICATORS
Details of the Library’s key performance
indicators can be found on pages 30 to 33.
PAYMENT OF CREDITORS
It is the policy of the British Library Board to
pay all creditors within 30 days of the invoice
date unless there is a specific payment date
agreed with the supplier. For the year ended
31 March 2004, 88% of invoices were paid
within 30 days (2002/03 = 90%). Compliance
in this matter is in accordance with the Better
Payment Practice Code.
RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
Details of related party transactions are
disclosed on page 63 at note 23.
CODE OF BEST PRACTICE ON
CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
A Statement of Internal Control is included
on pages 42 to 43 and the Library has
achieved full compliance in this respect,
as at March 2004.

LORD EATWELL

RESERVES
The Library’s policy on reserves is disclosed on
page 49 at note 1k.
EQUAL OPPORTUNITIES
The British Library Board is an equal
opportunities employer and is committed
to promoting diversity. A full-time Diversity
Manager is now in post. The Library’s policy
for training, career development and promotion
are in line with its equal opportunities policy
and in this regard, disabled employees are
treated the same as all other staff with respect
to their aptitudes and abilities. The Library aims
to develop an adaptable, well-motivated and
well-trained staff, possessing a complex blend
of knowledge and skills in managerial,
technical, scholarly and specialist disciplines.
COMMUNICATIONS WITH EMPLOYEES
The Library is committed to developing
effective communications between all
employees in order to keep them informed,
motivated and able to support the Library’s

CHAIRMAN
28 JUNE 2004

LYNNE BRINDLEY

ACCOUNTING OFFICER
25 JUNE 2004
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Statement of the Board and
Accounting Officer’s responsibilities
The British Library’s Management Statement and Financial Memorandum with DCMS sets out the roles and
responsibilities of the Board, the Chair and the Accounting Officer. It includes the following points:




Board members have a corporate
responsibility to the Secretary of State for
ensuring that the Library fulfils the aims and
objectives set out in legislation and complies
with any statutory or administrative
requirements for the use of public funds.
The Chair is responsible to the Secretary of
State, on behalf of the Board, for ensuring
that where appropriate the Library’s policies
are consistent with those of the Secretary
of State, and that the Library’s affairs are
conducted with probity. (S)he ensures
that all members of the Board, when taking
up office, are fully briefed on the terms
of their appointment and on their other
duties, rights and responsibilities. (S)he is
responsible for advising the Secretary of
State of the needs of the Library with a view
to ensuring a proper balance of professional
and financial expertise.



The Accounting Officer is personally
responsible for safeguarding the public
funds for which (s)he has charge, for
propriety and regularity in the handling of
those public funds and for the day-to-day
operations and management of the Library.
(S)he should act in accordance with the
terms of the Management Statement and
Financial Memorandum and with the
instructions and guidance in Government
Accounting and other instructions and
guidance issued from time to time by the
Department, the Treasury and the Cabinet
Office – in particular, the Treasury
documents The Responsibilities of an NDPB
Accounting Officer and Regularity and
Propriety.

LORD EATWELL

CHAIRMAN
28 JUNE 2004

LYNNE BRINDLEY

ACCOUNTING OFFICER
25 JUNE 2004

impacts of copyright legislation. The approach
adopted meets the requirements of the HM
Treasury guidance on Management of Risk –
A Strategic Overview (‘The Orange Book’) and
will be enhanced with best practice from other
organisations as opportunities arise.

EXTERNAL AUDIT
The National Audit Office reviews the Library’s
accounts and supplies information on issues for
review in an annual management letter. It also
carries out value for money reviews on Library
activities.

Management of risk will be further embedded
at all levels of the organisation and supported
by an active training and education programme.

BOARD
The Board is responsible for confirming that the
risk management approach will aid the
achievement of policy aims and for advice and
guidance on proposals.

Risks are assessed against estimation criteria
approved by the Board. These criteria cover the
potential impact of the risk and the likelihood
of its occurrence. The risk is considered for its
effect on strategy, operations, finances or
reputation and whether it is external or internal.



Risks are managed in accordance with an
agreed approach decided for each risk ranging
from terminating the risk, through possible
reduction measures, acceptance and monitoring
or passing the risk on.

Statement on the system of internal control






In line with the responsibilities as set out above, the Chair, on behalf of the Board, is responsible for ensuring
that appropriate arrangements exist to implement and maintain the Library’s internal control framework.
The Accounting Officer is responsible for making sure that a sound system of internal control exists and is
maintained and that the public funds and assets for which we are personally responsible are safeguarded in
accordance with the responsibilities assigned to us in Government Accounting; and ensuring compliance with
the requirements of the British Library’s Management Statement and Financial Memorandum.

2. THE PURPOSE OF THE SYSTEM
OF INTERNAL CONTROL
The system of internal control is designed
to manage risk to a reasonable level rather
than to eliminate all risk of failure to achieve
policies, aims and objectives; it can therefore







Each level of the Library has a responsibility
for risk awareness and management. Risks
reviews are carried out by the assigned
manager responsible.
Risks are reviewed:

1. SCOPE OF RESPONSIBILITY
In line with the responsibilities as set out
above, the Chair, on behalf of the Board,
is responsible for ensuring that appropriate
arrangements exist to implement and maintain
the Library’s internal control framework. The
Accounting Officer is responsible for: making
sure that a sound system of internal control
exists and is maintained and that the public
funds and assets for which we are personally
responsible are safeguarded in accordance
with the responsibilities assigned to us in
Government Accounting; and ensuring
compliance with the requirements of the
British Library’s Management Statement and
Financial Memorandum.

BOARD AUDIT COMMITTEE (BAC)
The Audit Committee advises the Accounting
Officer (or Board) on:

only provide reasonable and not absolute
assurance of effectiveness. The system of
internal control is based on an ongoing process
designed to identify and prioritise the risks to
the achievement of British Library policies,
aims and objectives, to evaluate the likelihood
of those risks being realised and the impact
should they be realised, and to manage
them efficiently, effectively and economically.
The system of internal control has been in
place in the British Library for the year ended
31 March 2004 and up to the date of approval
of the annual report and accounts, and accords
with Treasury guidance.
3. CAPACITY TO HANDLE RISK
The Library’s Executive Team reviews the
corporate risk register each quarter in the
context of the business plan review. The Board
Audit Committee reviews the risk register at its
meetings which take place three times a year.
The Board reviews the register in the context
of the planning cycle on an annual basis.

The Library’s review of its competency
framework includes risk management and
awareness within the key role competencies
for managers.
This year has seen a facilitative review of
the risk management process by our internal
auditors in which we drew on their expertise
to ensure that we were applying best practice
in the field. The recommendations of this
review were delivered in May 2004 and will
be used by management to further enhance
the Library’s risk management framework.
4. THE RISK AND CONTROL FRAMEWORK
The Library’s risk management policy seeks
to identify and manage risks that endanger
the achievement of its strategic aims as defined
in its Business Plan or the operational aims
defined in Directorate plans. The Library’s
major areas of risk identified by this process are
its funding strategy, its adaptability to changing
market conditions and its management of the







Annually by the Board as part of
the planning cycle;
Quarterly by the Executive Team;
Four-monthly by the Board Audit
Committee;
Monthly by the Executive Team on
an exception basis;
Monthly by Directorate Management
teams for their own subset of risks; and
Local risk registers are developed as
needed based on these policy principles.

5. REVIEW OF EFFECTIVENESS
The Accounting Officer has responsibility for
reviewing the effectiveness of the system of
internal control. This review of the effectiveness
of the system of internal control is informed
by the work of the internal auditors and the
executive managers within the British Library
who have responsibility for the development and
maintenance of the internal control framework,
and comments made by the external auditors in
their management letter and other reports. The
Accounting Officer is advised on the implications
of the result of the reviews of the effectiveness
of the system of internal control by the Board,
the Audit Committee and the Risk Group, and
plans to address weaknesses and ensure
continuous improvement systems are put in
place as necessary.
Additional assurance is gained from:
INTERNAL AUDIT
An annual internal audit programme is drawn
from the five year programme which has been
developed based on the risk register.

the strategic processes for risk, control and
governance;
the accounting policies and the accounts of
the organisation;
the planned activity and results of both
internal and external audit;
adequacy of management response to issues
identified by audit activity.

EXECUTIVE TEAM
Members of the Executive Team are responsible
for operational management and for risk review
in their own areas of responsibility and for
championing the required culture change. Each
Director is required to support the Accounting
Officer by submitting a Self Certificate
confirming that the Library’s systems of internal
control have been applied through the year in
the areas under their control.
RISK GROUP
This group includes the Compliance Officer,
the Head of Estates Risk, the IT Security Officer
and the Directorate Finance Managers.
It is responsible for the maintenance and
management of the risk register ensuring that
changes are reflected on a timely basis when
necessary. The group is also responsible for
providing advice and organising training for
managers on risk management issues.
MANAGERS
Managers at all levels are responsible for
ensuring that controls are applied and that
risks to their activities are identified, recorded,
assessed and managed on an agreed basis.
They flag these risks and any issues through
their appropriate Directorate Finance Manager.
6. SIGNIFICANT INTERNAL CONTROL ISSUES
No significant issues have been identified by
the Library’s system of internal control in the
period. In addition the Internal Audit opinion
states that no serious weaknesses in the
systems of internal control, risk management
and governance have been identified in the
work undertaken by the auditors during their
approved programme.

LORD EATWELL

CHAIRMAN
28 JUNE 2004
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ACCOUNTING OFFICER
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The certificate and report of the Comptroller and
Auditor General to the Houses of Parliament

Summary income and
expenditure account

I certify that I have audited the financial statements on pages 45 to 63 under the form directed by
the Secretary of State for the Department for Culture, Media and Sport and approved by the Treasury.
These financial statements have been prepared under the historical cost convention as modified by
the revaluation of certain fixed assets and the accounting policies set out on page 49.

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2004

RESPECTIVE RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE
BOARD, THE CHIEF EXECUTIVE AND
AUDITOR
As described on page 42, the Board and Chief
Executive of the British Library are responsible
for the preparation of the financial statements
in accordance with the Secretary of State for
the Department for Culture, Media and Sport
and Treasury directions made thereunder and
for ensuring the regularity of financial
transactions. The Board and Chief Executive
are also responsible for the preparation of the
other contents of the Annual Report. My
responsibilities, as independent auditor, are
established by statute and I have regard to the
standards and guidance issued by the Auditing
Practices Board and the ethical guidance
applicable to the auditing profession.
I report my opinion as to whether the financial
statements give a true and fair view and are
properly prepared in accordance with the
Secretary of State for the Department for
Culture, Media and Sport and Treasury directions
made thereunder, and whether in all material
respects the expenditure and income have been
applied to the purposes intended by Parliament
and the financial transactions conform to the
authorities which govern them. I also report if, in
my opinion, the Foreword is not consistent with
the financial statements, if the Library has not
kept proper accounting records, or if I have not
received all the information and explanations
I require for my audit.
I read the other information contained in
the Annual Report and consider whether it is
consistent with the audited financial
statements. I consider the implications for my
certificate if I become aware of any apparent
misstatements or material inconsistencies with
the financial statements.
I review whether the statement on pages 42
and 43 reflects the Library’s compliance with
Treasury’s guidance on the Statement on
Internal Control. I report if it does not meet the
requirements specified by Treasury, or if the
statement is misleading or inconsistent with
other information I am aware of from my audit
of the financial statements. I am not required to
consider, nor have I considered whether the
Accounting Officer’s Statement on Internal

Control covers all risks and controls. I am also
not required to form an opinion on the
effectiveness of the Library’s corporate
governance procedures or its risk and
control procedures.
BASIS OF AUDIT OPINION
I conducted my audit in accordance with
United Kingdom Auditing Standards issued by
the Auditing Practices Board. An audit includes
examination, on a test basis, of evidence
relevant to the amounts, disclosures and
regularity of financial transactions included in
the financial statements. It also includes an
assessment of the significant estimates and
judgements made by the Board and Chief
Executive in the preparation of the financial
statements, and of whether the accounting
policies are appropriate to the Library
circumstances, consistently applied and
adequately disclosed.
I planned and performed my audit so as to
obtain all the information and explanations
which I considered necessary in order to
provide me with sufficient evidence to give
reasonable assurance that the financial
statements are free from material misstatement,
whether caused by error, or by fraud or other
irregularity and that, in all material respects,
the expenditure and income have been applied
to the purposes intended by Parliament and
the financial transactions conform to the
authorities which govern them. In forming
my opinion I have also evaluated the overall
adequacy of the presentation of information
in the financial statements.
OPINION
In my opinion:
 the financial statements give a true and fair
view of the state of affairs of the British
Library at 31 March 2004 and of the surplus,
total recognised gains and losses and cash
flows for the year then ended and have been
properly prepared in accordance with the
British Library Act 1972 and directions made
thereunder by Secretary of State for the
Department for Culture, Media and Sport
and Treasury; and
 in all material respects the expenditure and
income have been applied to the purposes
intended by Parliament and the financial

transactions conform to the authorities
which govern them.
I have no observations to make on these
financial statements.

Notes

Total income of continuing operations
Pension transfer from DCMS
Operating expenditure
Operating surplus on revenue income and expenditure before
St Pancras depreciation and movements between revenue funds
Depreciation on St Pancras assets (full year)
Realised loss from fixed asset investments
Transfer into restricted funds
Pension transfer to Principal Civil Service Pension Scheme

7
17
17

Operating (deficit)/surplus on revenue income and expenditure

JOHN BOURN
COMPTROLLER AND AUDITOR GENERAL
2 JULY 2004

National Audit Office
157-197 Buckingham Palace Road
Victoria
London
SW1W 9SP

2003/04

2002/03

£000

£000

119,546
315,800
116,450

119,212
110,140

318,896
(10,109)
(126)
(315,800)

9,072
(12,146)
(181)
4,982
-

(7,139)

1,727

2003/04

2002/03

All of the British Library’s activities are derived from continuing operations.

Statement of total recognised
gains and losses
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2004
Notes

Operating (deficit)/surplus on revenue income and expenditure
Current cost adjustment
Revaluation
Unrealised gain/(loss)
Total recognised gains for the year
The notes on pages 49 to 63 form part of these accounts.

11
11
17

£000

£000

(7,139)
10,092
(2,509)
753

1,727
15,399
(1,039)

1,197

16,087
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Statement of financial activities

Balance sheet

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2004

AS AT 31 MARCH 2004
Notes

Unrestricted

Restricted

Total

Total

funds

funds

2003/04

2002/03

£000

£000

£000

£000

150
25,423
475
89,263

3,854
381
-

4,004
25,423
856
89,263

6,162
27,068
795
85,187

115,311

4,235

119,546

119,212

315,800

-

315,800

-

431,111

4,235

435,346

119,212

367
237

-

367
237

396
272

41,315
15,874
36,410
7,053
2,832
4,885
2,986
1,609

583
171
6
1,607
8
8
499
-

41,898
16,045
36,416
8,660
2,840
4,893
3,485
1,609

39,075
15,479
35,015
7,137
2,838
4,890
3,508
1,530

113,568

2,882

116,450

110,140

Pension transfer to Principal Civil Service Pension Scheme (PCSPS)

315,800

-

315,800

-

Total resources expended after pension transfer to PCSPS

429,368

2,882

432,250

110,140

Incoming resources
Donations, legacies and similar incoming resources
Trading activities in furtherance of the charity’s objectives
Investment income
Grant in Aid

2
3
4
5

Total incoming resources
Pension transfer from DCMS

5

Total incoming resources after pension transfer from DCMS

Notes

2003/04

2002/03

£000

£000

816
456,887
4,080

777
455,898
3,592

461,783

460,267

1,039
10,375
118
21,018

953
11,048
207
16,832

32,550

29,040

(14,639)

(12,504)

17,911

16,536

479,694

476,803

(1,694)

-

478,000

476,803

17

12,264

10,284

17
17

465,530
206

466,499
20

478,000

476,803

Fixed assets
Intangible assets
Tangible assets
Investments

10
11
12

Current assets
Stocks
Debtors and prepayments
Short term deposits
Cash at bank and in hand

14
15

Resources expended
Costs of generating funds
Grants payable in furtherance of the charity’s objectives
Costs in furtherance of the charity’s objectives:
Collection Management
Collection Development
Access to Collection
Wider Public Access
Bibliographic Services
Reference/Information Services
Leadership, Partnership and Co-operation
Management and Administration

Current liabilities
Creditors: amounts falling due within one year

16

Net current assets
Total assets less current liabilities
Creditors: amounts falling due after one year
Provision for liabilities and charges

18

Net assets
Total resources expended

6

Net increase in resources before St Pancras depreciation
and notional costs
Depreciation on St Pancras assets
Realised loss from fixed asset investments

7
17

1,743
(10,109)
-

1,353
(126)

3,096
(10,109)
(126)

9,072
(12,146)
(181)

8

(8,366)
(16,610)

1,227
-

(7,139)
(16,610)

(3,255)
(28,048)

(24,976)
16,610

1,227
-

(23,749)
16,610

(31,303)
28,048

9
17

(8,366)
-

1,227
-

(7,139)
-

(3,255)
4,982

17
11
11

(8,366)
(2,509)
10,092

1,227
753
-

(7,139)
753
(2,509)
10,092

1,727
(1,039)
15,399

(783)
466,519

1,980
10,284

1,197
476,803

16,087
460,716

465,736

12,264

478,000

476,803

Net (decrease)/increase in resources after St Pancras depreciation
Notional cost of capital

Net (outgoing)/incoming resources after notional costs
Reversal of notional cost of capital

Net (outgoing)/incoming resources before transfers
Transfer into restricted fund

Net movement in funds
Unrealised gain/(loss)
Revaluation
Current cost adjustment

Net movement in funds after revaluation
Fund balances brought forward at 1 April
Fund balances carried forward at 31 March

All recognised gains and losses are included within the Statement of Financial Activities and all the Library’s activities are classed as continuing.
The notes on pages 49 to 63 form part of these accounts.

Represented by:
Income funds
Restricted funds
Unrestricted funds:
General funds
Donated asset reserve
Total funds
The notes on pages 49 to 63 form part of these accounts.
The financial statements on pages 45 to 48 were approved by the Board/Trustees on 25 June 2004,
and were signed on their behalf by:

LORD EATWELL
CHAIRMAN
28 JUNE 2004

LYNNE BRINDLEY
ACCOUNTING OFFICER
25 JUNE 2004
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Cash flow statement

Notes to the accounts

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2004

1 Accounting policies
Notes

2003/04
£000

£000

2002/03
£000

£000

Reconciliation of net movement in funds
to net cash inflow from operating activities
Net movement in funds inflow
Pension transfer from DCMS
Pension transfer to Principal Civil Service Pension Scheme
Depreciation
Loss on asset disposals
Realised loss on investments
Unrealised (gain)/loss on investments
MHCA adjustment net
Revaluation of property
Provision for early retirement
Increase in stocks
Increase/(decrease) in debtors
Increase in creditors

1,197
315,800
(315,800)
12,078
19
126
(753)
(10,092)
2,509
1,694
(86)
673
2,135

Net cash inflow from operating activities

16,087
13,366
49
15
23
(15,399)
(184)
(466)
19
9,500

13,510

A) ACCOUNTING CONVENTION
The Accounts have been prepared in
accordance with the accounts direction given
by the Secretary of State for Culture, Media
and Sport with the approval of the Treasury,
in accordance with Section 5(3) of the British
Library Act 1972. A copy of the accounts
direction can be obtained from The British
Library, 96 Euston Road, London NW1 2DB.
Accordingly, the Accounts have been prepared
under the historical cost convention as modified
by the revaluation of land and buildings and
take account of the Statement of Recommended
Practice Accounting and Reporting by
Charities, issued October 2000, (the ‘SORP’),
the Charities Act 1993, the Charities
(Accounting and Reports) Regulations 1995
and generally accepted accounting practice
so far as considered appropriate or as modified
by Treasury guidance.

Capital expenditure and financial investment
Purchase of intangible fixed assets
Purchase of tangible fixed assets
Purchase of investments
Receipts from sale of tangible fixed assets
Transfer of investments from endowment fund
and trust fund accounts
Receipts from sales of investments

12

Net cash outflow from capital expenditure
Increase in cash in the year

(331)
(5,217)
(1,621)
6

(802)
(4,888)
(8)
20

1,760

(3,516)
40

In addition, modified historic cost accounting
has been utilised to more fairly represent the
current cost of the Library’s most significant
assets, where the comparison with historic
values shows a material difference.

(5,403)

(9,154)

4,097

4,356

Reconciliation of net cash flow to movement in net funds
Increase in cash in the year
Net funds as at 1 April

4,097
17,039

4,356
12,683

Net funds as at 31 March

21,136

17,039

Net funds comprise cash at bank, cash in hand and short-term deposits.

B) INCOMING RESOURCES
Grant in Aid received from DCMS is
allocated to unrestricted funds in the year
to which it relates.
Trading income is recorded on an accruals
basis and is shown net of Value Added Tax.
Donations are included in the Statement of
Financial Activities on a cash received basis,
or where they are assured with certainty and
receivable by the Balance Sheet date.
Investment income relates to interest received
on daily bank balances and dividends from the
Fixed Asset Investments. These are recorded
on an accruals basis.
C) TAXATION
The British Library has no sources of income
liable to Corporation Tax and no provision has
therefore been made.
D) VALUATIONS
In line with Government Accounting, regular
professional valuations of land and property
are required to be carried out, having regard to
the importance of the estate to the operation
of the department, but in any event, at least
once in every five years. Such a valuation was
undertaken as at 31 March 2004 for two of
the three freehold properties, with the third
property (St Pancras) having been revalued as
at 31 March 2000.

E) DEPRECIATION
The threshold for capitalising assets is £10,000.
In accordance with Executive NDPB Annual
Reports and Accounts Guidance additions to
the collection acquired since 1 April 2001
are capitalised and recognised in the Balance
Sheet. The cost or value of the acquisition
is used, where such a cost or valuation is
reasonably obtainable. Such items are not
depreciated or revalued. Collection items with
values below the capitalisation threshold are
written off when the expenditure is incurred.
Depreciation is provided on all intangible and
tangible fixed assets costing £10,000 and
above, other than freehold land and collection
items. Depreciation rates are calculated to write
off the cost or valuation of each asset, less
estimated residual value, evenly over its
expected useful life, as follows:

Freehold buildings
Over the remaining useful life as at the
valuation date, up to a maximum of 50 years.

Leasehold buildings
Over the lease term, up to a maximum
of 25 years.

Plant and machinery, office and
computer equipment
3 – 10 years

Motor vehicles
4 years

Assets in the course of construction

H) FOREIGN CURRENCIES
Assets and liabilities denominated in foreign
currencies are translated at the rate of
exchange ruling at the year end, unless a
corresponding forward exchange contract is
in place. Transactions in foreign currencies are
translated at the rate ruling at the time of the
transaction. All exchange differences are taken
to the Statement of Financial Activities.
I) OPERATING LEASES
Costs relating to operating leases are charged
to the income and expenditure account over
the life of the lease.
J) FUND ACCOUNTING
General funds are available for use at the
discretion of the Board in furtherance of the
general objectives of the Library.
Designated funds comprise resources which
have been set aside at the discretion of the
Board for specific purposes. The purposes and
use of the designated funds are set out in the
notes to the Accounts.
Restricted funds are resources subject to
specific restrictions imposed by donors or
by the purpose of the appeal.
K) RESERVES
The Library does not hold accumulated
surpluses in the form of reserves. Grant in Aid
funding is provided on an annual basis and is
drawn down according to forecasted spending
patterns.

No depreciation is charged, until the building
is operational and supporting the activities
of the Library.

Any funds arising from an excess of income
over expenditure are fully earmarked in the
purchase of fixed assets or are fully earmarked
to meet commitments in 2004/05.

F) GOVERNMENT GRANT
Grant in Aid from the Department for Culture,
Media and Sport is allocated to general
purposes and is taken to the Statement of
Financial Activities and recognised in the
appropriate period.

L) NOTIONAL COSTS
In accordance with Treasury guidance a
notional cost of capital is charged to the
Statement of Financial Activities (SOFA) in
arriving at a net incoming/(outgoing) resources
figure. This cost is reversed so that no provision
is included on the Balance Sheet.

G) STOCKS
Stocks are stated at the lower of cost or net
realisable value. Provision is made against
slow-moving and obsolete stock. Any stocks
of consumables held are considered written
off at the time of purchase.
Stocks held in respect of book-binding activities
are recorded at cost. As this stock is not of a
general nature it would not be cost-effective
to test the realisable value in determining which
provides the lower valuation.

The cost of capital for 2003/04 has changed
from 2002/03, in line with Treasury guidance,
these being 3.5% and 6.0% for 2003/04 and
2002/03 respectively.
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(continued)

2 Donations

6 Net cost of resources expended

Donations received in the year include a receipt of £884,874 in respect of the Shaw Fund,
this being the final disbursement from the Trustees of the British Museum – The Shaw Fund.
The full and final settlement was a result of the agreement of 30 November 1999 between
the British Museum and the Library, as agreed in an order approved by the Charity Commission,
in which the Library was entitled to one half of the balance of the funds.

3 Trading income
Trading income includes document supply services and associated activities, computer information
search and retrieval and publications. Trading income can be further analysed by both business
and geographical segments.
A) CLASSES OF BUSINESS
2003/04

Access to Collection
Wider Public Access
Reference/Information Services
Bibliographic Services
Other

2002/03

£000

£000

18,479
3,142
238
2,236
1,328

20,304
2,448
368
2,628
1,320

25,423

27,068

2003/04

2002/03

B) GEOGRAPHICAL SEGMENTS

United Kingdom
Overseas

£000

£000

15,596
9,827

15,911
11,157

25,423

27,068

2003/04

2002/03

£000

£000

711
145

659
136

856

795

4 Investment income

Interest receivable
Dividends receivable
Total interest

5 Grant in Aid
Total Grant in Aid made available to the British Library Board was £89.3m (£85.2m received
in 2002/03), this included £3.4m for restructuring programmes. This money is available for
running costs, capital improvements and collection purchases.
In addition to the above operational Grant in Aid, a one-off payment was received during the
year to cover the pension liability in the move to the Principal Civil Service Pension Scheme.
This was funded from DCMS with £315.8m being received in the year.

Staff costs

Other direct

Depreciation

Income

costs

Allocated

2003/04

2002/03

support cost

Net cost 1

Net cost

£000

£000

£000

£000

£000

£000

£000

229
14,432
1,347
17,848
2,949
922
2,720

138
237
3,851
14,019
3,470
3,140
797
235

30
339
69
1
-

14
2,044
274
18,478
3,665
2,235
386

23,246
639
13,898
2,358
1,055
1,825

353
237
39,515
15,731
17,077
4,851
540
4,394

396
272
34,459
14,443
14,298
4,413
154
4,341

1,831
641

661
968

-

1,559
9

936
-

1,869
1,600

1,672
1,530

42,919

27,516

439

28,664

43,957

86,167

75,978

5,314
14,066
1,679

4,671
17,744
572

881
648
1

45
1,571
3

(10,821)
(30,887)
(2,249)

-

-

63,978

50,503

1,969

30,283

-

86,167

75,978

Direct costs
Costs of generating funds
Grants payable
Collection Management
Collection Development
Access to Collection
Wider Public Access
Bibliographic Services
Reference/Information Services
Leadership, Partnership
and Co-operation
Management and Administration2

Support costs
Information systems
Corporate services
Directorate costs

The categories used in 2003/04 have been
based on the Library’s strategic objectives.
When costs cannot be directly attributed to
one of the Library’s objectives, they have
been allocated to activities on a basis
consistent with the use of resources.
In accordance with HM Treasury disclosure
requirements, in respect of fees and charges,
the above table identifies the net cost of
the Library’s activities, which is derived by
deducting trading, donated and investment
income from total expenditure. This segmental
information is not disclosed for the purpose
of SSAP 25.

1

Net cost is calculated by deducting trading,
donated and investment income from
total expenditure.

2

Management and administration includes
the costs of corporate administration,
Board membership fees, legal fees, internal
and external audit fees and staff costs associated
with the preparation of the statutory accounts.
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6 Net cost of resources expended

(continued)
6 Net cost of resources expended

(continued)

A) STAFF COSTS

but will increase from 2005/06. The contribution rates reflect benefits as they are accrued,
not when the costs are actually incurred, and reflect past experience of the Scheme.
2003/04

Wages and salaries
Social security costs
Pension disbursements
Superannuation disbursements
Voluntary redundancy/restructuring programme
for former employees
Current year costs
Provision for future costs

Board members’ remuneration (see (i) on following page)

(continued)

2002/03

£000

£000

48,050
3,619
5,967
-

47,542
2,953
6,037
429

3,344
2,399

-

63,379

56,961

599

574

63,978

57,535

Staff of the British Library are eligible to become a member of one of the Principal Civil Service
Pension Schemes (PCSPS), these being pension schemes that provide retirement and related
benefits to all eligible employees. Pension benefits are provided on a final salary basis, at a normal
retirement age of 60. Benefits accrue, depending upon the pension scheme chosen, at the rate
of one sixtieth or one eightieth of pensionable salary for each year of service. In addition, a lump
sum equivalent to three years’ pension is payable on retirement. Members pay contributions of
1.5% or 3.5% of pensionable earnings, depending upon the respective scheme the member is in.
On death, pensions are payable to the surviving spouse at a rate of half the member’s pension.
On death in service, the beneficiary receives a lump sum benefit of twice pensionable pay and also
provides a service enhancement on computing the spouse’s pension. The enhancement depends
on the length of service and cannot exceed 10 years. Medical retirement is possible in the case of
serious ill health.
All staff pay either 1.5% or 3.5% of pensionable earnings to the PCSPS. The rate of 3.5% applies
to staff who joined on or after 1 October 2002 and existing staff who have opted for the Premium
or Classic Plus pensions, rather than the Classic pension.
The PCSPS is an unfunded multi-employer defined benefit scheme but the British Library is unable
to identify its share of the underlying assets and liabilities. A full actuarial valuation was carried
out at 31 March 2003. Details can be found in the resource accounts of the Cabinet Office: Civil
Service Superannuation.

Employees joining after 1 October 2002 can opt to open a partnership pension account, a stakeholder
pension with an employer contribution. Employers’ contributions are paid to one of four appointed
stakeholder pension providers. Employers’ contributions are age-related and range from 3% to 12.5%
of pensionable pay. Employers also match employee contributions up to 3% of pensionable pay.
In addition, employers’ contributions of 0.8% of pensionable pay are payable to PCSPS to cover the
cost of the future provision of lump sum benefits on death in service and ill health retirements of
these employees.
i) Board members’ remuneration

Fees and salaries
Other emoluments
Pensions to former members

2003/04

2002/03

£000

£000

336
30
233

316
29
229

599

574

2003/04

2002/03

£000

£000

0.7
8.1
2.0
8.1
1.3
8.1
6.8
8.1
1.3
5.7
8.1
2.2
4.7
2.0

7.9
7.9
2.3
7.9
1.6
7.9
6.1
7.9
7.9
7.9
-

67.2

65.3

Disclosures for non-pensionable Board members

Professor Michael Anderson OBE
Sir Henry Boyd-Carpenter KCVO
Robin Broadhurst OBE
Professor Robert Burgess
Professor Linda Colley
Sheila Forbes CBE
GC Rodney Leach
Duncan Lewis
Sir Colin Lucas
Eileen Mackay CB
Simon Olswang
Professor Dame Jessica Rawson DBE
John Ritblat
Dr Gareth Roberts

to 20 April 2003
from 1 January 2004
to 29 May 2003
to 20 January 2004
from 1 February 2004
from 17 July 2003
to 10 July 2003
to 30 October 2003
from 1 January 2004

Pension disbursements relate to:




The Accruing Superannuation Liability Contributions payable to the Principal Civil Service
Pension Scheme in respect of existing eligible employees.
Compensation lump sums, service enhancements and annual compensation payments in respect
of employees who were retired early under the terms of PCSPS.

No pension contributions were made on behalf of the above Board members in the year.
The remuneration paid and pension entitlements of the executive members of the British Library Board and the Chairman were as follows:

Superannuation disbursements are the costs up to 31 July 2002 for the lump sums paid to former
employees who have retired or transferred out of the British Library and who were members of
the Library’s pension scheme, net of inward transfer values and additional contributions.
As reported in the 2002/03 Annual Report and Accounts, the Library’s pension scheme liability
as at 31 July 2002 was provisionally valued by the Government Actuary’s Department (GAD) as
£254.5m. The final transfer payment in respect of the pension scheme liability was effected on
25 March 2004, having been funded to the Library from its sponsoring division, the Department
for Culture, Media and Sport, and paid to the Scheme’s managers at the Civil Service Superannuation
Division of the Cabinet Office. The payment was for £315.8m, being the value of the liability as
at 31 July 2003, this amount having been agreed to be full and final settlement of the Library’s
bulk transfer liability. The substantial increase in liability is due to the need to adjust for market
conditions to 31 July 2003 and the need to allow for investment returns from the original transfer
date to the payment date.
For 2003/04, employers’ contributions of £6,215,733 were payable to PCSPS (2002/03:
£4,593,904) at one of four rates in the range 12% to 18.5% of pensionable pay, based on salary
bands. The Scheme’s actuary reviews employer contributions every four years following a full
valuation. Rates will remain the same next year, subject to revalorisation of the salary bands,

Lord Eatwell
Chairman
Mrs Lynne Brindley
Chief Executive
Mr Ian Millar
Director of Finance
and Corporate Resources
resigned on 30 September 2003

Remuneration

Real increase

Total accrued

CASH EQUIVALENT

TRANSFER VALUE

paid

in pension

pension at 60 as

As at

As at

Real increase

at 60

at 31 March 2004

1 April 2003

31 March 2004

in year

£000

£000

£000

£000

£000

£000

33.5

0.6

1.4

11.1

19.4

6.7

142.5

3.1

43.8

645.1

726.4

41.0

92.5

1.0

4.6

44.7

53.6

5.9
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6 Net cost of resources expended

(continued)
7 Depreciation on St Pancras assets

(continued)

Following his resignation as the Library’s Director of Finance and Corporate Resources,
Ian Millar ceased to be a member of the British Library Board with effect from 30 September
2003. Subsequently Robert Kirton was appointed as Interim Director of Finance and Corporate
Resources. Mr Kirton has not been appointed to the British Library Board.

Due to the significant amount involved, depreciation on the total value of assets transferred in
December 1997 from the Department for Culture, Media and Sport, for no consideration, is
shown separately in the Statement of Financial Activities. This amount represents a full year’s
depreciation.

The cash equivalent transfer value (CETV) is a new additional disclosure requirement resulting from
The Directors’ Remuneration Report Regulations 2002. The CETV is the actuarially assessed capitalised
value of the pension scheme’s benefits accumulated by a member at a particular point in time.
Board Members are reimbursed for expenses incurred in relation to the performance of their duties.

8 Notional cost of capital
Notional cost of capital is calculated as 3.5% of the average capital employed in the year,
excluding collection assets purchased and donated and is required by the Executive NDPB
Annual Report and Accounts Guidance.

ii) Senior employees

9 Net outgoing resources before transfers

The following number of employees, excluding executive members of the British Library Board
and the Chairman, received remuneration falling within the following ranges:

£50,001 – £60,000
£60,001 – £70,000
£70,001 – £80,000
£80,001 – £90,000
£90,001 – £100,000
£100,001 – £110,000
£110,001 – £120,000

2003/04

2002/03

14
9
2
1
2
2
1

10
5
2
2
1
-

2003/04

2002/03

£000

£000

48
1,384
722
292
10,109
1,677

49
1,328
742
25
12,146
1,195

This is stated after charging
Auditors’ remuneration
Rent on land and buildings
Lease/rental payments on equipment
Depreciation on intangible assets
Depreciation on St Pancras assets
Depreciation on other fixed assets

In accordance with the SORP 2000, for 2003/04 emoluments are reported in bands from £50,000.
2003/04

2002/03

1,850
396

1,866
443

10 Intangible assets

The average number of employees during the year was
Collections and Services
Library Support Services

2,246

2,309

2003/04

2002/03

B) OTHER DIRECT COSTS

Acquisitions for the collections
Research and other grants
Conservation and binding services
Administration, equipment, supplies and services
Non-recoverable VAT (net)
Loss on disposal of fixed assets

The above table is exclusive of staff costs.

£000

£000

13,906
237
2,430
32,983
928
19

13,553
272
2,625
33,903
983
49

50,503

51,385

Licences

Total

2003/04

2002/03

£000

£000

802
331
-

802
-

1,133

802

At 1 April 2003
Charge for year

25
292

25

At 31 March 2004

317

25

816

777

Cost
At 1 April 2003
Additions
Disposals
At 31 March 2004

Depreciation

Net book value at 31 March

All intangible assets have been valued on the basis of purchase price. The assets are all depreciated
over a period of three years which is consistent with the IT equipment that the licence supports.
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(continued)
12 Investments

11 Tangible fixed assets
A) MOVEMENTS
Land and

Plant and

Office

Motor

Computer

Collections

Collections

AICC

Total

buildings

machinery

equipment

vehicles

equipment

purchased

donated

£000

£000

£000

£000

£000

£000

£000

£000

£000

At 1 April 2003
473,289
Additions
Revaluations
(4,585)
Modified Historic Cost
Accounting (MHCA) adjustment 10,305
Disposals
(5)

27,607
1,924
-

11,027
17
-

72
17
-

7,358
1,041
-

2,083
1,289
-

20
186
-

743
-

521,456
5,217
(4,585)

(696)

(428)

(6)

(1,750)

-

-

-

10,305
(2,885)

At 31 March 2004

28,835

10,616

83

6,649

3,372

206

743

529,508

Cost or valuation

479,004

Depreciation
At 1 April 2003
Charge for year
St Pancras assets
Other assets
Revaluations
MHCA adjustment
Elimination on disposal

27,360

22,731

10,768

52

4,647

-

-

-

65,558

8,072
558
(2,076)
213
(5)

1,780
380

53
33

8

204
698

-

-

-

(671)

(428)

(6)

(1,750)

-

-

-

10,109
1,677
(2,076)
213
(2,860)

At 31 March 2004

34,122

24,220

10,426

54

3,799

-

-

-

72,621

444,882

4,615

190

29

2,850

3,372

206

743

456,887

445,929

4,876

259

20

2,711

2,083

20

-

455,898

At 31 March 2004
At 31 March 2003

A new category of fixed assets has been included in the above table in 2003/04, this being
Assets in the Course of Construction (AICC). During 2003/04 the Library has started work
on the design of two separate building projects, being the Conservation Centre at St Pancras
and the Additional Storage Building at Boston Spa. These buildings are both expected to be
completed by 2006. The contract for the physical construction of the Conservation Centre is due
to be awarded in September 2004. However it should be noted that a significant amount of the
funding for the construction project has yet to be secured and therefore a withdrawal option
remains in place.
The value of disposals is principally represented by book adjustments to standardise capitalisation
values on the fixed asset register. All assets with a historic cost below the capitalisation threshold
(and the associated depreciation) have been removed from the fixed asset register.
B) VALUATIONS
The land and buildings as at 31 March 2004 include two properties valued at £31,720,000
on 31 March 2004 and one building, St Pancras, revalued at £390,652,000 on 31 March 2000,
for which title has been vested in the British Library Board.

Site
St Pancras
Boston Spa
Colindale Avenue

Freehold
Freehold
Freehold

Land

Buildings

Total

£000

£000

£000

27,500
4,000
2,425

363,152
22,200
3,095

390,652
26,200
5,520

33,925

388,447

422,372

The St Pancras site was valued as at 31 March 2000 by CB Hillier Parker, Surveyors and Valuers,
using the Depreciated Replacement Cost basis of valuation. The Boston Spa and Colindale sites
were revalued as at 31 March 2004 by Drivers Jonas, Chartered Surveyors, using the Worth for
Existing Use basis of valuation. The methodology of valuing properties in line with HM Treasury
and DCMS guidance to Non-Departmental Public Bodies.

2003/04

2002/03

£000

£000

3,592
1,621
(1,886)
753
-

146
3,516
8
(52)
(23)
(3)

Market value at 31 March

4,080

3,592

Historical cost at 31 March

3,910

4,175

750
2,596
734

912
2,162
518

4,080

3,592

3,346
734

3,074
518

4,080

3,592

Market value at 1 April
Transfer of investments into restricted funds
Purchases at cost
Disposals at book value
Increase/(Decrease) in market value
Investments written off

Analysed by
Fixed Interest Securities
Listed UK Securities
Listed Overseas Securities
Market value as at 31 March

Geographical analysis
United Kingdom investments
Overseas investments

Investments are only held for the purpose of the Library’s restricted funds, with their aim to achieve
an appropriate balance between income generation and capital growth particular to the fund.

13 Financial instruments
FRS 13 Derivatives and other financial instruments, requires disclosure of the role which financial
instruments have had during the period, in creating or changing the risks the Library faces in
undertaking its activities.
As permitted by FRS 13, debtors and creditors which mature or become payable within
12 months of the balance sheet, have been omitted from this note.
LIQUIDITY RISK
Apart from Grant in Aid, the Library’s other major source of income is from document supply
services. Remote document supply is demand led and due to competition from other providers
and an increase in the availability of electronic media from publishers, the income from this service
has continued to decline. Efforts have and will continue on maintaining the viability of the service
at the gross contribution level. We are also actively exploring new income sources for the Library.
INTEREST RATE RISK
The Library has financial investments, which are identified in the table below. In addition, the
Library budgets conservatively for investment income and is therefore not exposed to significant
interest rate risk.
INVESTMENT INCOME PROFILE
The following table shows the interest rate profile of the Library’s financial assets. As the Library
has no finance leases or loans, financial liabilities have been omitted from this table.
2003/04

2002/03

Floating rate

Fixed rate

Dividends

Total

Total

£000

£000

£000

£000

£000

Sterling
Dollar
Euro
Yen

20,816
86
208
26

750
-

3,300
-

24,896
86
208
26

20,120
318
193
-

Total

21,136

750

3,300

25,216

20,631
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(continued)
17 Statement of funds

(continued)

FOREIGN CURRENCY RISK
The British Library has an international customer and supplier base. Accordingly, the Library both
receives and makes payment for goods and services in a number of foreign currencies.
As part of the Library’s Treasury Management Strategy, the risk of fluctuations in currency values
is minimised through a variety of policies including currency accounts and forward exchange
contracts (currently for US Dollars, Euros and Japanese Yen).
Foreign currency balances are reviewed on a regular basis and these are either recycled to meet
the Library’s immediate foreign payment commitments or they are translated into sterling and
returned to the Library’s interest-bearing sterling bank account.

14 Stocks

Stocks for resale
Raw materials
Total stocks

2003/04

2002/03

£000

£000

706
333

605
348

1,039

953

Stocks for resale comprise printed, microfiche and CD-Rom publications and are available from the
Library Bookshop and Library website.

15 Debtors and prepayments
2003/04

2002/03

£000

£000

3,641
1,258
5,476

3,798
2,236
5,014

10,375

11,048

2003/04

2002/03

£000

£000

5,879
3,618
4,061
376
705

7,278
1,785
3,072
369
-

14,639

12,504

Amounts falling due within one year
Trade debtors
Other debtors
Prepayments and accrued income

16 Creditors
Amounts falling due within one year
Trade creditors
Other creditors
Accruals
Deferred income
Provision for early retirement costs

Realised and
As at

Transfers

Incoming

1 April 2003

to/(from)

unrealised

As at

Expenditure

resources

gains and losses

31 March 2004

£000

£000

£000

£000

£000

£000

466,499
20

-

116,634
-

115,665
186

-

465,530
206

466,519

-

116,634

115,851

-

465,736

3,305
2,115
1,066
605
505
391
283
210
165
97
150
123
87
88
115
17
72
38
84
17
35
94
97
53
39
49
730

12
1
92
23
4
5
(6)
(170)

13
82
32
335
108
21
40
2
163
41
1
3
145
24
34
48
149
36
40
10
19
288

1,135
84
73
23
335
69
9
251
71
6
204
20
4
3
3
130
8
11
73
12
41
176
3
3
1
22
32
50
333

269
140
109
14
31
14
16
5
29

4,440
2,455
1,197
705
517
366
271
251
241
200
138
129
127
104
104
100
93
83
77
71
62
62
61
60
59
56
56
50
634

10,630

(39)

1,634

3,185

627

12,769

(346)

39

1,248

1,050

-

(505)

476,803

-

119,516

120,086

627

478,000

Unrestricted funds
General Funds
General Funds Donated Asset Reserve
Total unrestricted funds

Restricted funds
Shaw Fund
Sound Archive
Eccles Centre
Dingwall No. 2
Chinese Central Asia Database
Consolidated Endowment Account
Workshop Gallery
Centre for Conservation
Treasures Gallery
Sir Henry Thomas
Pearson Gallery
Co-operation and Partnership
Special Exhibitions
T S Blakeney
Anthony Panizzi Foundation
National Preservation Office
Corporate Membership Scheme
North American Collections
Curator of Photography
European Co-operation Fund
Cataloguing Projects Fund
EC Fund: The European Library
New York Public Library
Turning the Pages
Sir Adrian Boult
Collections Fund
Early Buddhist Fund
Web Archive Consortium
Others
Total restricted funds
New Opportunities Fund: Collect Britain
Total funds
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(continued)
18 Provisional for Early Retirement Costs

(continued)

Restricted funds are given to the Library for
specific purchases for the collection or projects
which are related to the aims and objectives of
the Library. All the funds with balances of over
£50,000 at 31 March 2004 are listed above,
with a brief description as to the aims of the
fund shown below; Other restricted funds
comprise individual amounts less than £50,000.
The NOF Collect Britain project has a deficit of
funds at the year end; future income streams
will more than cover the shortfall and future
costs involved in the project.
SHAW FUND
Established by a Charity Commission order
dated 13 September 2000, with the income
being available for the general purpose of
the British Library Board. At a meeting in
September 2003, the Board adopted the
following expenditure policy for the Shaw
Fund income: ‘To be applied as an addition
to other sources of funding, for the benefit of
the readership of the British Library; for the
acquisition of manuscripts and other materials,
to support specific projects of a scholarly or
research nature, and for other similar purposes
as the Board may determine.
SOUND ARCHIVE
For the promotion of and assistance in the
study, understanding, communication and
recording of sound.
THE DAVID AND MARY ECCLES CENTRE
FOR AMERICAN STUDIES
Founded by Lord and Lady Eccles to further the
establishment of a centre for American studies.
A bequest from Lady Eccles of shares to a value
in excess of $3m was received on 9 June 2004
and is not included in these accounts.
DINGWALL NO. 2
Founded by Dr Eric John Dingwall, for the
purchase of fine editions or the subscription
to foreign periodicals.
CHINESE CENTRAL ASIA DATABASE
Contributions to support the International
Dunhuang Project in its aim to catalogue,
digitise and facilitate scholarly research on the
Dunhuang manuscripts held by the library and
other institutions in Europe, Asia and USA.
CONSOLIDATED ENDOWMENT ACCOUNT
Founded in 1975, the fund is to be used for
any purpose approved by the Board where
there has not been adequate provision made
through Government Grant in Aid.
WORKSHOP GALLERY
Sponsorship from commercial companies,
used to assist the running and maintenance
of the Gallery.

CENTRE FOR CONSERVATION
To raise funds from external sources for the
British Library Centre for Conservation project.
TREASURES GALLERY
A donation from Mr J H Ritblat for the
updating of displays in the Treasures Gallery.
SIR HENRY THOMAS
Founded in 1981 by Miss Amy Thomas,
for the purchase of books relating to the
culture and literature of Spain.
PEARSON GALLERY
Sponsorship from commercial companies,
used to assist the running and maintenance
of the Gallery.

EUROPEAN CO-OPERATION FUND
EU funded project to establish a relationship
between national bibliographic agencies and
publishers of electronic material, so as to create
authoritative bibliographic information.
CATALOGUING PROJECTS FUND
A collection of mini projects to support
scholarship and collection cataloguing activities.
EC FUND: THE EUROPEAN LIBRARY
A collaboration between a number of European
national libraries, to establish a professionally
designed and maintained single access point to
the collections in all the national library partners.

CO-OPERATION AND PARTNERSHIP
Used for fees in respect of advice given by
British Library staff on library-related lottery
applications.

NEW YORK PUBLIC LIBRARY
A grant from the Mellon Foundation to
fund a joint project between the Library and
the New York Public Library to develop new
models for assisting scholars and for managing
and disseminating scholarly information.

SPECIAL EXHIBITIONS
Underwriting future exhibitions, interest from
other funds and net proceeds from corporate
membership scheme.

TURNING THE PAGES
To fund the development of the Turning the
Pages electronic facsimile and license it to
Northumberland County Council.

TS BLAKENEY
Founded in 1977 by Thomas Sydney Blakeney,
for the purchase of western manuscripts.

SIR ADRIAN BOULT
Founded through a public appeal, for
commissioning and production of recordings
of musical lectures or similar functions.

ANTHONY PANIZZI FOUNDATION
Founded in 1982 by an anonymous donor,
for the advancement of public education by
funding a lecture or series of lectures in the
subject of advanced bibliography.
NATIONAL PRESERVATION OFFICE
Contributions to the cost of running the
Office, with the aim of progressing a national
preservation policy.
CORPORATE MEMBERSHIP
A range of externally received funds, with the
funds being available for the general purpose
of the British Library, as decided upon by the
Executive Team.
NORTH AMERICAN COLLECTIONS
A fund to enable the strengthening of
the resources for American studies in the
British Library.
CURATOR OF PHOTOGRAPHY
To record the photographic and photographyrelated collections; assessing their physical
condition and make any necessary
recommendations for conservation, storage,
security and use.

GENERAL RESTRICTED FUNDS FOR
THE BRITISH LIBRARY COLLECTIONS
To support the work of Scholarship
and Collections.
EARLY BUDDHIST MANUSCRIPTS
To fund and support the work on the
Kharosthi manuscripts.
WEB ARCHIVE CONSORTIUM
A programme to review the capability
to discover and select, capture and store
material relevant to the national collection
published only in web form. The programme
is to be developed via a series of collaborative
projects with international partners.
NOF: COLLECT BRITAIN
Funding from the New Opportunities Fund,
administered by the Department for Culture,
Media and Sport, which aims to provide a rich
variety of images, sound and texts in a virtual
library of collections for the lifelong learner,
consisting of materials relating to specific
localities or regions across and beyond Britain.

A provision has been made in full for employees leaving the organisation under early retirement or
early severance terms. The provision represents the estimated future costs to the Library, for both
staff that have left during 2003/04 and staff that are known to be leaving in 2004/05.
2003/04

2002/03

£000

£000

705
1,694

-

2,399

-

Payable within one year
Payable in more than one year

19 Commitments under Operating Leases
LAND & BUILDINGS

EQUIPMENT

2003/04

2002/03

2003/04

2002/03

£000

£000

£000

£000

432
920

182
1,171

69
85
1

26
40
-

1,352

1,353

155

66

Unrestricted

Restricted

Total

funds

funds

£000

£000

£000

816
456,887
24,337
(14,610)
(1,694)

4,080
8,213
(29)
-

816
456,887
4,080
32,550
(14,639)
(1,694)

465,736

12,264

478,000

Operating leases which expire
Within one year
Two to five years
More than five years

20 Analysis of Net Assets Between Funds

Fund balances at 31 March 2004
are represented by
Intangible fixed assets
Tangible fixed assets
Investments
Current assets
Current liabilities
Non-current liabilities
Total net assets
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(continued)

21 Capital commitments

23 Related party transactions

Contracted and not provided for
Authorised, but not contracted for

2003/04

2002/03

£000

£000

2,589

486

22,830

188

The capital commitment figures include the contracted and authorised costs for the two new
buildings, the Conservation Centre at St Pancras and the Additional Storage Building at Boston
Spa. Work has started on these two buildings, see Note 11 Tangible Fixed Assets, assets in the
course of construction.

The British Library is a Non-Departmental Public Body sponsored by the Department for Culture,
Media and Sport.
The Department for Culture, Media and Sport is regarded as a related party. During the year the
Library has had a number of transactions in the normal course of business and at full arm’s length
with the Department.
The Library has also had a number of transactions in the normal course of business and at full
arm’s length with most of the DCMS sponsored bodies.





22 Endowment fund and Trust funds
During 2002/03, on the advice of the Charity Commission, the Endowment and Trust funds of the
Library were deregistered and reclassified as restricted funds. The net assets of the Endowment
and Trust funds, a sum of £4,982,000, were transferred into restricted funds that year.
The British Library Board does not act as Trustee for the Gilson and Saga Trusts. The aggregated
results for these funds are shown in the table below.
2003/04

Income
Expenditure
Unrealised gains/(losses) on investments
Surplus/(deficit) for the year
Investments
Special deposits
Net debtors/(creditors)
Cash at bank
Net assets

2002/03

2001/02

It received grants from the National Heritage Memorial Fund and the New Opportunities Fund.
It loaned material to the National Portrait Gallery, the British Museum, the National Maritime
Museum, the Victoria and Albert Museum, the Walker Art Gallery and the Tate Gallery.
It borrowed material from the Victoria and Albert Museum and the British Museum.

During the year a number of Board members have contributed to the Adopt a Book appeal.
In addition Mr Ritblat made a donation to the Treasures Gallery restricted fund.
The Library sets aside space for the Friends of the British Library to undertake some of their duties.
However, there is no direct financial support from the Library to the Friends of the British Library.

24 Key performance indicators
Performance against Funding Agreement targets 2003/04

£000

£000

13
(9)
12

13
(14)
(15)

232
(417)
(99)

A full list of all the Library’s key performance indicators is shown in the main body of the Annual
Report on pages 30 to 33. The NDPB Accounts Guidance requires disclosure in the notes to the
accounts of any key performance indicators which cover financial performance. The single
KPI relating to financial performance is shown below.

16

(16)

(284)

Measure

274
4
3
15

262
4
3
11

4,479
409
(41)
412

296

280

5,259

Expenditure on acquisition
of digital material

Target

Actual

Target

Actual

Target

Actual

Target

Actual

2003/04

2003/04

2002/03

2002/03

2001/02

2001/02

2000/01

2000/01

£1.40m

£1.46m

£1.24m

£1.36m

£1.01m

£1.11m

£0.91m

£1.01m

The performance target for acquisitions relate to cash expenditure. Correspondingly the actual
expenditure on acquisitions continues to be reported on a cash and not accruals basis.
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